## PHYTOCHEMICALS AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF EXPLANT AND CALLUS EXTRACTS OF *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx.

# DALILAH ABU BAKAR

FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

## PHYTOCHEMICALS AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF EXPLANT AND CALLUS EXTRACTS OF *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx.

## DALILAH ABU BAKAR

## DISSERTATION SUBMITTED IN FULFILMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE

## INSTITUTE OF BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES FACULTY OF SCIENCE UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA KUALA LUMPUR

2018

## UNIVERSITY OF MALAYA ORIGINAL LITERARY WORK DECLARATION

Name of Candidate:	DALILAH ABU BAKAR
Registration/Matric No:	SGR120097
Name of Degree:	MASTER OF SCIENCE (EXCEPT MATHEMATICS
	AND PHILOSOPHY)
Title of Project Paper/Res	search Report/Dissertation/Thesis ("this Work"):

## PHYTOCHEMICALS AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF EXPLANT AND CALLUS EXTRACTS OF *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx. Field of Study: **BIOTECHNOLOGY**

I do solemnly and sincerely declare that:

- (1) I am the sole author/writer of this Work;
- (2) This Work is original;
- (3) Any use of any work in which copyright exists was done by way of fair dealing and for permitted purposes and any excerpt or extract from, or reference to or reproduction of any copyright work has been disclosed expressly and sufficiently and the title of the Work and its authorship have been acknowledged in this Work;
- (4) I do not have any actual knowledge nor do I ought reasonably to know that the making of this work constitutes an infringement of any copyright work;
- (5) I hereby assign all and every rights in the copyright to this Work to the University of Malaya ("UM"), who henceforth shall be owner of the copyright in this Work and that any reproduction or use in any form or by any means whatsoever is prohibited without the written consent of UM having been first had and obtained;
- (6) I am fully aware that if in the course of making this Work I have infringed any copyright whether intentionally or otherwise, I may be subject to legal action or any other action as may be determined by UM.

Candidate's Signature

Date:

Subscribed and solemnly declared before,

Witness's Signature

Date:

Name:

Designation:

### PHYTOCHEMICALS AND BIOLOGICAL ACTIVITIES OF EXPLANT AND CALLUS EXTRACTS OF *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx.

#### ABSTRACT

The present study reports a protocol for efficient in vitro callus induction of Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx. which belongs to Verbenaceae family, was found to possess natural product source that contains anticancer properties including remarkable bioactivity depends on its bioactive compounds and found to have flavonoids, sugar, steroids, essential oil, resins, tannins and other medicinally valuable constituents. Callus induction and shoot regeneration were achieved through culturing leaf and stem explants after disinfected with 70% ethanol for 3 minutes, 0.10% mercury chloride for 3 minutes and 20% sodium hypochlorite for 2 minutes on Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (pH5.8) supplemented with single or combinations of auxins and cytokinins, which are naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA), 2,4-dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2,4-D), indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), indole-3-butyric acid (IBA) and benzyladenine (BA), kinetin (KN). The highest shoot regeneration response was observed from MS medium without plant growth regulators (90%) while shoot regeneration from MS media supplemented with combination of IAA and BA which gave the highest multiple shoots with three shoots per explant. Maximum (92.50%) callus response was obtained on single plant growth regulators (PGRs) which was 2.50 mg/L NAA (118.60 mg/L) with light green friable callus, 90.00% response from 1.00 mg/L BA (42.70 mg/L) with green compact callus and 89.20% response from combination of 3.00 mg/L NAA: 2.00 mg/L KN (165.00 mg/L) with green compact and friable callus and 2.50 mg/L IBA: 1.00 mg/L BA (139.60 mg/L) with green compact callus. PGRs were evaluated for their influence on callus induction with biomass parameters in regular interval for in vitro callus growth curves which were plotted. Maximum biomass of the callus achieved on the third week. The callus was extracted with methanol using soxhlet apparatus and screening for stigmasterol and βsitosterol was run using TLC, GC-MS, HPLC and HPTLC. Traces of steroids was found

on TLC, while HPTLC exhibited clear bands of steroids on the Rf value of 0.46 minute. HPLC confirms the presence of stigmasterol at RT 8.69 and 8.71 minutes of standard stigmasterol and extracts, respectively. GC-MS analysis of the methanolic extract of L. nodiflora showed 15 peaks in total and the highest component in leaf extracts, octadecanoic acid with 93% and docosanoic acid with 80% in stem extracts. The extracts were tested on Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis, Aspergillus niger and Candida albicans for antimicrobial assay and DPPH radical scavenging activity was used for antioxidant evaluation. The methanolic extracts of in vivo leaf and stem explants with in vitro callus showed prominent antifungal activity against A. niger and C. albicans. The 50% (IC<sub>50</sub>) inhibition concentration of leaf, stem and callus extracts on the free radical scavenging DPPH were determined as 8231, 3959 and 16534 µg/ml respectively, showing there are high antioxidant activity on stem of L. nodiflora with 92.2% of scavenging activity. The inhibition of colon cancer cells production on HCT116 was successful with strong level of cytotoxity against cancer cells where dried leaf extracts gave the highest inhibition (4.19 µg/mL). Hence, *Lippia nodiflora* can be suggested to have a high potential to assist in the medical and pharmaceutical industry, especially on anticancer to aid successful cure for cancer.

Keywords: *Lippia nodiflora*, ultrastructure, callus induction, metabolic analysis, biological activities

### AKTIVITI-AKTIVITI FITOKIMIA DAN BIOLOGI DARI EKSTRAK EKSPLAN DAN KALUS *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx.

#### ABSTRAK

Kajian ini melaporkan protokol yang berkesan untuk induksi kalus in vitro pada Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx. yang tergolong dalam keluarga Verbenaceae, didapati mempunyai sumber produk semulajadi yang mengandungi ciri-ciri anti-kanser termasuk mempunyai pelbagai bioaktiviti bergantung kepada sebatian bioaktif dan didapati mempunyai flavonoid, gula, steroid, minyak pati, resin, tanin dan pelbagai unsur- unsur berharga dalam industri perubatan. Induksi kalus dan pertumbuhan semula pucuk telah dicapai melalui pengkulturan eksplan daun dan tangkai, di mana ia dibasmi dengan 70% etanol selama 3 minit, kemudian 0.10% merkuri klorida selama 3 minit dan 20% natrium hipoklorit selama 2 minit pada media Murashige dan Skoog (MS) (pH5.8) yang ditambah dengan satu atau kombinasi auksin dan sitokinin, menggunakan asid naftalena asetik (NAA), asid 2,4-diklorofenoksiasetik (2,4-D), asid indol-3-asetik (IAA), asid indol-3butirik (IBA) dan benziladenina (BA), kinetin (KN). Respon mikropropagasi tertinggi dicapai oleh MS media tanpa hormon (90%) manakala mikropropagasi dari media MS ditambah dengan gabungan IAA dan BA memberi jumlah pucuk tertinggi dengan tiga pucuk setiap eksplant. Maksimum 92.50% respon telah dapat memperolehi kalus daripada satu jenis hormon iaitu 2.50 mg/L NAA (118.60 mg/L) yang mempunyai kalus bewarna hijau yang rapuh, dan seterusnya 90.00% respon daripada 1.00 mg/L BA (42.70 mg/L) dengan kalus bewarna hijau yang padat serta 89.20% respon daripada gabungan hormon 3.00 mg/L NAA: 2.00 mg/L KN (165.00 mg/L) dengan kalus bewarna hijau yang padat dan rapuh, 2.50 mg/L IBA: 1.00 mg/L BA (139.60 mg/L) dengan kalus bewarna hijau yang padat. Pengaruh hormon dinilai persamaan untuk induksi kalus dengan parameter biomas dalam jarak waktu tetap di mana graf pertumbuhan in vitro kalus telah diplot. Biomas maksimum kalus telah dicapai pada minggu ketiga. Kemudian, kalus diekstrak dengan metanol menggunakan soxhlet dan kompaun stigmasterol dan β-

sitosterol sebagai rujukan telah dijalankan menggunakan TLC, GC-MS, HPLC dan HPTLC. Kesan- kesan steroid ditemui di TLC manakala analisis HPTLC mempamerkan tompok yang jelas untuk steroid pada nilai R<sub>f</sub> 0.46 minit. HPLC mengesahkan kehadiran stigmasterol di dalam ekstrak di mana kompaun stigmasterol serta pecahan daripada ekstrak tersebut dengan masa retensi RT 8.69 dan RT 8.71 minit. Analisis GC- MS daripada ekstrak metanol L. nodiflora mempunyai 15 puncak keseluruhan dan komponen yang paling tinggi dijumpai di dalam ekstrak daun, iaitu asid oktadekanoik dengan 93% manakala asid dokosanoik dengan 80% di dalam ekstrak stem. Ekstrak L. nodiflora telah diuji pada Escherichia coli, Bacillus subtilis, Aspergillus niger dan Candida albicans untuk ujian aktiviti antimikrob dan aktiviti antioksida menggunakan ujian DPPH. Ekstrak metanol daripada eksplan *in vivo* daun, batang dan *in vitro* kalus menunjukkan aktiviti anti-kulat terhadap A. niger dan C. albicans. Kepekatan perencatan 50% (IC<sub>50</sub>) bagi ekstrak daun, batang dan kalus untuk memerangkap DPPH radikal bebas adalah 8231, 3959 dan 16.534 µg/mL masing-masing, menunjukkan terdapat aktiviti antioksida yang tinggi pada batang L. nodiflora dengan 92.2% aktiviti antioksida. Manakala, perencatan pengeluaran sel-sel kanser usus besar pada HCT116 telah berjaya dengan tahap tinggi terhadap sel-sel kanser di mana ekstrak daun kering memberikan perencatan tertinggi (4.19 µg/mL). Kesimpulannya, *Lippia nodiflora* boleh dicadangkan untuk mempunyai potensi yang tinggi untuk membantu dalam industri perubatan dan farmaseutikal, terutama pada kajian antikanser untuk membantu mengelak dan mengubati kanser.

Kata kunci: Lippia nodiflora, ultrastruktur, induksi kalus, analisis metabolik, aktivitiaktiviti biologi

#### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

Alhamdulillah, all praises to The Almighty Allah for giving me a chance to complete this research. I would like to express my deepest appreciation to my respected supervisors Prof. Dr. Rosna Mat Taha and Dr. Bakrudeen Ali Ahmed for the guidance from the day I started this research especially in giving me useful knowledge. Without the guidance and persistent help throughout this research, this dissertation would not be complete.

A special thanks also dedicated to all Lab B2.5 members and students who have given me ideas on my research, assisting me and encouraging me through ups and downs.

I would also like to give my appreciation to my beloved mother, Ir. Siti Badriah Ishak and my siblings for their continuous supports during all the hard time I have encountered. Finally, special thanks to my husband, Mr. Ahmad Izzuddin Patahorahman for his motivation and encouragements until I completed my study successfully.

Thank you very much and may Allah bless all of you.

### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Abst	tract	ii
Abst	trak	iv
Ack	nowledgements	vi
Tabl	le of Contents	vii
List	of Figures	xi
List	of Tables	xiv
List	of Symbols and Abbreviations	xvi
List	of Appendices	xix
CHA	APTER 1: INTRODUCTION	1
1.1	Background	1
1.2	Problem Statement	7
1.3	Research Objectives	8
1.4	Scope and Limitation of Study	8
CHA	APTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW	10
2.1	Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx.	10
2.2	Tissue culture on Lippia nodiflora	11
2.3	Phytochemical study on Lippia nodiflora	13
2.4	Anticancer studies on Lippia nodiflora	20
2.5	Other studies on Lippia nodiflora	22
2.6	Research Gap	24
CHA	APTER 3: METHODOLOGY	26
3.1	Introduction	26

3.2	Plant Materials and Identification		
3.3	Morpho	Morphology of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> 2	
	3.3.1	Macro-morphology of Lippia nodiflora	28
	3.3.2	Micromorphology of Lippia nodiflora	28
		3.3.2.1 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy (FESEM)	28
		3.3.2.2 Leaf Epidermal Peel	29
3.4	Tissue	Culture Studies	29
	3.4.1	Sterilization Method	29
	3.4.2	Callus Induction of Lippia nodiflora	30
	3.4.3	In vitro callus growth curve	33
	3.4.4	Shoot Regeneration of Lippia nodiflora	33
	3.4.5	Root Induction and Acclimatization	35
3.5	.5 Phytochemical studies on <i>in vivo</i> leaf and stem and <i>in vitro</i> callus		35
	3.5.1	Sample extractions	35
	3.5.2	Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)	36
	3.5.3	Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry (GC- MS)	37
	3.5.4	High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography (HPTLC)	37
	3.5.5	High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)	38
	3.5.6	Antimicrobial Activity Assay (Disk Diffusion Method) (Adopted from Bauer et al., 1966)	39
	3.5.7	Radical Scavenging Activity (DPPH Assay)	40
3.6	HCT 11	16 Cell Line Anticancer Study	41
	3.6.1	Media Preparation	41
	3.6.2	Reviving Cell and Cell Inoculation	42
	3.6.3	Subculturing Cell Line	42
	3.6.4	MTT Cell Proliferation Assay	43
3.7	Statistic	cal Analysis	45

CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION			
4.1	Introduc	ction	46
4.2	Lippia nodiflora Identification46		46
4.3	Morpho	ology of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	47
	4.3.1	Macro-morphology of Lippia nodiflora	47
	4.3.2	Micromorphoology of Lippia nodiflora	49
		4.3.2.1 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope of Leaf Surface of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	49
		4.3.2.2 Leaf Epidermal Peel	53
4.4	Tissue (	Culture Studies	54
	4.4.1	Surface Sterilization of Lippia nodiflora	54
	4.4.2	Callus Induction of Lippia nodiflora	54
	4.4.3	In vitro callus growth curve	64
	4.4.4	Plant Regeneration on Lippia nodiflora	70
	4.4.5	Root Induction and Acclimatization	74
4.5	Phytoch	memical studies on leaf and stem of intact plants and in vitro callus	76
	4.5.1	Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) Analysis on Leaf, Stem and Callus Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	76
	4.5.2	Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrophotometer Analysis on <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> Leaf and Stem Explants	81
	4.5.3	High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography (HPTLC) Analysis on Leaf, Stem and Callus of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> explants	86
	4.5.4	High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) on Leaf, Stem and Callus Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	89
	4.5.5	Antimicrobial Activity of leaf, stem and callus extracts of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	98
	4.5.6	Antioxidant Activity on Lippia nodiflora Leaf and Stem Explants	102
4.6	.6 Anticancer Study on Cell Line HCT 116		105
4.7	Correlat	tion Analysis	109

CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION	
References	
Appendix	

university

### LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1.1:	Habit of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	1
Figure 2.1:	Lippia nodiflora, leaves and inflorescence	10
Figure 3.1:	Herbarium specimen of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> at University of Malaya Herbarium (KLU47924).	27
Figure 3.2:	Distribution of Lippia nodiflora in Peninsular Malaysia	27
Figure 3.3:	Induced callus from leaf and stem explants	33
Figure 3.4:	HPLC system unit	39
Figure 3.5:	96 well plate A to H arrangement for MTT Assay	44
Figure 4.1:	Lippia nodiflora plant	47
Figure 4.2:	Stomata distribution in <i>Lippia nodiflora</i>	51
Figure 4.3:	Micromorphology of simple unicellular trichomes	52
Figure 4.4:	The oil gland on epidermis	53
Figure 4.5:	Diacytic stomata under 100x magnification	54
Figure 4.6:	The nature of callus obtained induced from <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> on MS media supplemented with different plant growth regulators	57
Figure 4.7:	The differences of nature and biomass between leaf and stem explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> on MS media supplemented with different plant growth regulators at the third week of induction	61
Figure 4.8:	Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Leaf Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> Callus on MS media with NAA Treatments	66
Figure 4.9:	Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> Callus on MS media with BA Treatments	67
Figure 4.10:	Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> Callus on MS media with IBA + BA & KN Treatments.	68
Figure 4.11:	Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> Callus on MS media with NAA + BA & KN Treatments.	69

Figure 4.12:	Shoot regeneration of stem on MS media supplemented with plant growth regulators (PGRs) and control	71
Figure 4.13:	Shoot regeneration of <i>L. nodiflora</i> on MS media supplemented with combination PGRs	74
Figure 4.14:	Hardening of <i>L. nodiflora</i> and its acclimatization	76
Figure 4.15:	Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts with mobile phase hexane: acetone (4: 1)	78
Figure 4.16:	Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts with mobile phase hexane: acetone (3: 1)	79
Figure 4.17:	Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts	80
Figure 4.18:	GC-MS chromatogram for leaf explants methanolic extract of <i>L. nodiflora</i> .	82
Figure 4.19:	GC-MS chromatogram for stem explants methanolic extract of <i>L. nodiflora</i> .	84
Figure 4.20:	HPTLC analysis for <i>L. nodiflora</i> extracts with stigmasterol and $\beta$ -sitosterol standard at 254 nm.	88
Figure 4.21:	HPTLC analysis for <i>L. nodiflora</i> extracts with stigmasterol and $\beta$ -sitosterol standard at 365 nm	88
Figure 4.22:	HPTLC analysis for <i>L. nodiflora</i> extracts with stigmasterol and $\beta$ -sitosterol standard on with light after sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid, H <sub>2</sub> SO <sub>4</sub> in ethanol.	89
Figure 4.23:	Peak of stigmasterol standard compound at retention time (RT) 8.692 min.	92
Figure 4.24:	Standard curve for stigmasterol	92
Figure 4.25:	Peak of $\beta$ - sitosterol standard compound at retention time (RT) 10.050 min.	93
Figure 4.26:	Standard curve for β- sitosterol.	93
Figure 4.27:	HPLC analysis on leaf and stem extracts on stigmasterol and $\beta$ -sitosterol standards	94
Figure 4.28:	HPLC analysis callus extracts on stigmasterol and $\beta$ -sitosterol standards	95

Figure 4.29:	Leaf extracts chromatogram.	96
Figure 4.30:	Stem extracts chromatogram.	96
Figure 4.31:	Callus extracts from callus induced on leaf explants supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA	97
Figure 4.32:	Callus extracts from callus induced on stem explants supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA	97
Figure 4.33:	Scavenging activity against final concentration of sample	104
Figure 4.34:	Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of <i>L. nodiflora</i> fresh leaf extracts	107
Figure 4.35:	Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of <i>L. nodiflora</i> fresh stem extracts.	107
Figure 4.36:	Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of <i>L. nodiflora</i> dried leaf extracts	108
Figure 4.37:	Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of <i>L. nodiflora</i> dried stem extracts.	108

### LIST OF TABLES

Table 2.1:	Antibacterial studies on selected species of Lippia nodiflora	16
Table 2.2:	Antifungal studies on selected species of Lippia nodiflora	18
Table 2.3:	Antioxidant studies on Lippia nodiflora extracts.	19
Table 2.4:	Anticancer studies on Lippia nodiflora extracts	21
Table 2.5:	Other studies on aerial part of Lippia nodiflora extracts	22
Table 3.1:	Number of treatments on callus induction for single PGRs	31
Table 3.2:	Number of treatments on callus induction for combination PGRs	32
Table 3.3:	The number of treatments for shoot regeneration of stem explants of <i>L. nodiflora</i>	34
Table 4.1:	<i>Lippia nodiflora</i> callus nature for single and combination plant growth regulators (PGRs)	55
Table 4.2:	Frequency of callus induction (%) for single PGRs	58
Table 4.3:	Frequency of callus induction (%) for combination PGRs	.59
Table 4.4:	Browning effect on <i>L. nodiflora</i> callus induction	62
Table 4.5:	Shoot regeneration of stem explants of Lippia nodiflora	72
Table 4.6:	Observation of root induction on <i>Lippia nodiflora</i> regenerated shoot.	75
Table 4.7:	$R_f$ value readings for leaf, stem and callus extracts of <i>L. nodiflora</i> on thin layer chromatography with hexane: acetone (4:1) mobile phase	78
Table 4.8:	$R_f$ value readings for leaf, stem and callus extracts of <i>L. nodiflora</i> on thin layer chromatography with hexane: acetone (3: 1) mobile phase.	79
Table 4.9:	GCMS analysis of methanolic extract of <i>L. nodiflora</i> leaf explants	82
Table 4.10:	Molecular structure of compounds found from GCMS analysis of <i>L. nodiflora</i> leaf explants.	83
Table 4.11:	GCMS analysis of methanolic extract of <i>L. nodiflora</i> stem explants	84

Table 4.12:	Molecular structure of compounds found from GCMS analysis of <i>L.</i> <i>nodiflora</i> stem explants	35
Table 4.13:	Sample Application Pattern of <i>L. nodiflora</i> for HPTLC	37
Table 4.14:	Standard $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol HPLC analysis	93
Table 4.15:	Concentration of stigmasterol and β-sitosterol in plant extracts for 1.50 g/mL	98
Table 4.16:	Zone of inhibition of sample extract	00
Table 4.17:	Mean value of zone of inhibition <i>L. nodiflora</i> extract on selected microbes	01
Table 4.18:	IC <sub>50</sub> value antioxidant activity of for <i>L. nodiflora</i> extracts	)4
Table 4.19:	IC <sub>50</sub> value of MTT proliferation assay for <i>L. nodiflora</i> extracts 10	)8
Table 4.20:	Pearson's correlation coefficients between the variables	)9

### LIST OF SYMBOLS AND ABBREVIATIONS

- % : Percentage
- µg/mL : Microgram per mililitre
- μL : Microlitre
- μm : Micrometer
- $0^{\circ}C$  : Centigrade
- $0^{\circ}C/min$  : Centigrade per minute
- 2,4-D : 2,4- dicholoro phenoxy acetic acid
- B5 : Gamborg B5 media
- BA : Benzyl Adenine
- cm : centimeter
- CO<sub>2</sub> : Carbon dioxide
- DMRT : Duncan's Multiple Range Test
- DPPH : 2,2-diphenyl-1-picrylhydrazyl
- eV : Electron volt
- FBS : Fetal Bovine Serum
- FESEM : Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy
- g/L : Gram per litre
- g/mL : Gram per millilitre
- GC-MS : Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry
- h : Hour
- H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> : Sulphuric acid
- HgCl<sub>2</sub> : Mercury (II) Chloride
- HPLC : High Performance Liquid Chromatography
- HPTLC : High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography

- IAA : Indole 3 acetic acid
- IBA : Indole 3- butric acid
- IC<sub>50</sub> : Median Inhibition Concentration
- KN : 6 furfuryl amino purine / Kinetin
- (L.) : Linn
- L : Litre
- M : Molarity
- mg/kg : Milligram per kilogram
- mg/L : Milligram per litre
- min : Minute(s)
- mL : Milliliter
- mL/min : Milliliter per minute
- mm : Milimeter
- MS : Murashige and Skoog media
- MSO : MS media without plant growth regulators (control)
- MTT : 3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide
- NAA : Naphthalene acetic acid
- NIST Stational Institute of Standards and Technology
- nm : Nanometer
- No. : Number
- PBS : Phosphate Buffer Saline
- PGRs : Plant growth regulators
- POI : Percentage of inhibition
- ppm : Parts per million
- psi : Pounds per square inch
- $R_{\rm f}$  : Retardation factor

- RI : Resonance Ionization
- RP : Reverse Phase
- rpm : Revolutions per minute
- RT : Retention time
- SE : Standard error
- SH : Schenk and Hildebrandt media
- TLC : Thin Layer Chromatography
- UV : Ultraviolet
- (Var.) : Variety
- v/v : Volume/volume
- WHO : World Health Organization
- WPM : Woody plant media
- w/v : Weight/volume
- X : Times of magnification
- xg : Relative centrifugal force (gravity)

### LIST OF APPENDICES

Appendix A: Schematic Diagram of Experimental Design	125
Appendix B: Composition of the Murashige and Skoog (1962) (MS) medium	126
Appendix C: Callus growth curve on Single and Combination Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs)	128

university

### **CHAPTER 1: INTRODUCTION**

### 1.1 Background



Figure 1.1: Habit of *Lippia nodiflora*.

*Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx. (Verbenaceae) is a small perennial herb, a creeping plant with branched stems, numerous leaves and it bears small white flowers with scanty roots (Ahmed et al., 2011a; Amir et al., 2011). *Lippia nodiflora* can be found particularly in South Africa, Central America, sub-continent and most of the tropical and subtropical regions, particularly in maritime areas close to rivers (Chopra & Nayar, 1956; Manjunath, 1962; Jayaweera, 1980; Terblanche & Kornelius, 1996; Mako & Noor, 2006; Siddiqui et al., 2007). In Malaysia, *Lippia nodiflora* was found in Kota Kinabalu, Sabah and Seremban, Negeri Sembilan (Teoh et al., 2013; Cheng et al., 2015). *Phyla canescense* shows similar characteristics to *Lippia nodiflora*, however it can be distinguished by its canescent stems and leaves as well as blunt short teeth on its leaf tips (Munir, 1993). Marx et al. (2010) reported that the boundaries of genus *Lantana*, under Verbenaceae family has been historically weak where the genus consists of small trees, five-lobed corollas or

four in *Aloysia* genus, including the dry fruits dividing into two one-seeded mericarps. Taxonomic revision must be interpreted in light of the current taxonomic classification as there may be overlapped in the morphology and habitat of these two species (Leigh & Walton, 2004). There are very few taxonomic reports on *Lippia nodiflora* in Malaysia. Additional taxonomic data based on its foliar micromorphology can improve the identification of this two species.

Plant tissue culture is the science of growing plant cells, tissues or organs isolated from the mother plant, then were introduced on artificial media. Plant tissue culture can be categorized into two; organized growth and unorganized growth. Organized growth contributes towards the creation or maintenance of defined structure. This usually occurs when introducing plant organs into artificial media, mostly practice using the apical meristems of plants which are shoots and roots, leaf initials, young flower buds or small fruits, to continue growing and preserving their structure. An indirect propagation could also occur during the culture of previously unorganized tissue, which the growth of cells is coherently organized when organs were induced. This process of *de novo* organ formation can be called as organogenesis or morphogenesis (the development of form).

Unorganized growth is the growth of differentiated organs, modifies and specialized to enable them to undertake their essential roles. Unorganized growth can seldom be found in the nature, but can be observed fairly frequently when parts of plants were cultured *in vitro*. Cell aggregates which are then formed, in unorganized structure which only contain a limited number from many kinds of specialized and differentiated cells that are found in an intact plant. Callus can be increased in their volume by subculture and maintained on semi-solid or liquid media for long periods. Induction of its environment can initiate organogenesis, where callus were differentiated into distinct organs. Organ cultures includes aseptic inoculation from parts of plant such as leaf primordia, immature flowers and fruits including *in vitro* cultures. For the purpose of plant propagation, the most important types of organ cultures are meristem cultures (grown from very small excised shoot apices), shoot tips, node cultures (of separate lateral buds), isolated root cultures and embryo cultures (fertilized or unfertilized zygotic seed). The culture of unorganized tissues that are most generally recognized are callus cultures (growth and maintenance of largely unorganized cell masses), suspension cultures (small cell clumps were dispersed in an agitated liquid medium), protoplast cultures (culture of plant cells that has been isolated without cell wall) and anther cultures (culture of complete anther containing immature pollen microspores) (Edwin et al., 2008).

Preparation of tissue culture begins with preparing media. Plant materials will only grow *in vitro* when provided with specialized media consist of solutions of major and minor elements supplemented with vitamins, an energy source which is usually sucrose and plant growth regulators necessary for a plant growth. Successes achieved in tissue culture would be by the contribution of auxin and would be as incomplete without an understanding of the auxins involving the culture of isolated cells, root tips, stem tips and other explants ended in the development of callus. The function of cytokinins, on the other hand are used to induced divisions in cells of highly mature and differentiated tissues even in the presence of auxin in cultures. High concentration of auxin promoted proportion of auxin and cytokinins will resulted in unorganized growth (Razdan, 2003). Before starting the tissue culture process, sterilization of whole plant or parts of plants need to be done thoroughly without damaging the plants. Sterilization process differ from one to another plant, so optimization of the process is essential.

Tissue culture process undergone either direct or indirect propagation. The first phase is the initiation of tissue culture by the excision of explants (small organ or pieces of tissue), then it will be isolated into a container generally use test tubes or flasks with securely closed and incubated with light sources with selected photoperiod and suitable temperature under sterile condition. The growth rate of a culture will be depending on the selected photoperiod, temperature and also humidity. The second phase is the maintenance and multiplication phase. Once a culture from organized or unorganized growth has been started in vitro, it will usually continue if callus or explant cultures were divided and maintenance need to be done to provide new explants for culture initiation on fresh medium. Subculturing often becomes imperative when density of cells, tissues or organs becomes excessive, increasing in volume, development of new organs or an increment of number of organs (e.g. shoots or somatic embryo) for micropropagation. Rapid rates of plant propagation depend on the ability to subculture shoots from proliferating shoot or node cultures, from cultures giving direct shoot regeneration, or callus capable of reliable shoot or embryo regeneration. A further reason for subculturing is that, the accumulation of toxic metabolites and the exhaustion or the drying of medium. Thus, maintaining a culture requires all or part of it must be transferred onto fresh medium (Edwin et al., 2008).

Tissue culture possess techniques and methodologies can be used to research into many botanical disciplines such as taxonomy and has several practical objectives to further in depth study of plant such as genomics, proteomics and metabolomics (Edwin et al., 2008). Tissue culture process able to enhance further qualitative study by improving the environment of one complete plant due to the aseptic condition throughout the development. Plants contain sources for natural products which are highly beneficial in the field of medicine and biotechnology. Several plants had undergone preliminary screening to detect its phytochemical properties using mass spectrum analysis for identification of compounds, antimicrobial and antioxidant screening including remarkable bioactivity screening such as inhibition of anticancer activity (Weckwerth & Kahl, 2013).

Analytical strategies for plant metabolite analysis include metabolic profiling, metabolite targeted analysis and metabolic fingerprinting are important steps in characterizing metabolites and metabolic pathways. Metabolite profiling aims the detection of highest number of metabolites possible, contrasting to targeted metabolite analysis which function to determine absolute concentrations of metabolites involved and final approach by metabolic fingerprinting which generally not to identifying individual metabolites but rather provides a fingerprint of all chemicals measurable for sample comparison and discrimination analysis by nonspecific rapid analysis of crude metabolite mixtures (Weckwerth & Kahl, 2013).

*Lippia nodiflora* medicinal value has contributed in adenopathy which is an enlargement or swelling of lymph nodes treated with a poultice of fresh plants, chronic indolent ulcers, diuretic and aphrodisiac and is also used for the treatment of heart diseases, ulcers, bronchitis, fevers, and colds (Kirtikar & Basu, 1975). A mixture of *L. nodiflora* and the seeds of *Cuminum cyminum* are utilized as a cure for gonorrhea. A decoction of the plant with *Leucas aspera* and the roots of *Ocimum gratissimum* are known to possess anti-malarial properties. A mixture of the extracts of the leaves of *L. nodiflora* leaves, onion and ginger oil is used to treat Alopecia, a hair loss problem (Kirtikar, 1918; Chopra et al., 1956; Siddiqui et al., 2007; Siddiqui et al., 2009).

Flavonoids, sugars, sterols, essential oils, resins, tannins and other medicinally valuable constituents are present in Lippia nodiflora (Ahmed et al., 2011b). Ravikanth et al. (2002) reported that halleridone and hallerone, which are bioactive compounds, to have anti-cancer, anti- tumor, anti-malarial and anti-fungal properties with cytotoxic activities. Another bioactive compounds, stigmasterol and  $\beta$ - sitosterol possess antidiabetic (Balamurugan et al., 2011) and anti- cancer properties were also found in the species (Woyengo et al., 2009). Forestieri et al. (1996) has reported various pharmacological properties of L. nodiflora including antispasmodic, hypotensive, antiinflammatory, analgesic, and antipyretic. Furthermore, Agarwal (1997) reported that the aerial parts of Lippia nodiflora plant contains anodyne, antibacterial, diuretic, emmenagogue, parasiticide, refrigerant and febrifuge agents. Lippia nodiflora also contains various pharmacological properties including antibacterial, antinociceptive, antifungal, antioxidant and free radical scavenging activities (Shukla et al., 2009; Malathi et al., 2011; Zare et al., 2012). Abbasi et al. (2010) have found combination of L. nodiflora and black pepper water extracts have been used to cure multiple skin diseases such as pimples, carbuncles which were caused by bacteria, skin burns and bleeding gums. L. nodiflora extracts also possess eupafolin, a melanogenesis inhibitor for skin disease treatment as reported by Feng et al. (2012) and Horng et al. (2014).

Owing to many useful properties of *Lippia nodiflora*, this study was conducted to identify the bioactive compounds from organic solvent extract and analyse the medicinal values.

### **1.2 Problem Statement**

Previously, several studies have been done in the phytochemical components extracted from Lippia nodiflora intact plant either from aerial parts or only parts of plants. Moreover, the study on tissue culture sample could provide an aseptic medium but has yet to be exploited especially on callus. However, the focus of this study is to identify the compound responsible for anticancer property. Stigmasterol has been recorded by Ghosh et al. (2011) and Ali et al. (2015), to reduce the volume of cancer cell and has chemopreventive activity in an experimental model of cancer. Kazlowska et al. (2013) mentioned that  $\beta$ -sitosterol and campesterol probably contribute to the anticancer property. Therefore, this study was done to determine the highest callus induction obtained from single and combination of plant growth regulators on Murashige and Skoog (MS) media, continuing to examine its phytochemical properties such as antimicrobial and antioxidation. A targeted High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) and High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography (HPTLC) analysis has to be done to detect desired compound, next is Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectometry (GC-MS) profiling and further investigation of liquid extracts along with stigmasterol and βsitosterol to screen the antiproliferative property of samples properly of samples on HCT116 colon cancer using MTT assay.

The establishment of plant regeneration of *Lippia nodiflora*, the phytochemical studies and pharmacology studies seems to be growing. However, the micromorphological study of *Lippia nodiflora* is still considered inadequate. Until now, only a few micromorphological studies have focused on *Lippia nodiflora* (Pant & Kidwai, 1964; Yashvanth et al., 2012). Therefore, a research from a micromorphological point of view was done in this study to understand the morphology of *Lippia nodiflora*.

### **1.3** Research Objectives

The objectives of this study are:

- 1. To study the micro morphological characteristics of Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx.
- To develop the callus and plant regeneration from leaf and stem explants of *Lippia* nodiflora (L.) Michx.
- 3. To optimize the callus growth using biomass in Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx.
- To screen the presence of bioactive compound in leaf, stem and callus extracts of Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx.
- 5. To analyse the anticancer property of *in vivo* leaf and stem extracts of *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx. on HCT116 colon cancer cells.

#### **1.4** Scope and Limitation of Study

This study was done to increase the productivity of *Lippia nodiflora* callus cultures and to slow down the reaction of browning effect on the callus. Eight concentrations of each auxins and three concentrations of each cytokinins used including six concentrations on combination of auxins and cytokinins chose based on the response and biomass from induction of callus. Leaf and stem of *L. nodiflora* were selected to be cultured on MS media supplemented with designated PGRs for callus induction while nodes were selected to be inoculated on MS media supplemented with designated PGRs for plant regeneration.

Different concentrations were examined to investigate high proliferation callus to continue the phytochemical study. *In vitro* callus growth curve was recorded and highest biomass of each PGRs were selected to be maintained for further studies. Leaf, stem and callus were extracted using methanolic extraction and the phytochemical constituents from the extracts were used on preliminary study on Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC), identified using GC-MS and targeted analysis using HPLC and HPTLC. In addition, only

leaf and stem of *L. nodiflora* were used for the micromorphological study and the analyzation of anticancer property on HCT116 colon cancer cells due to the nonsignificant quantity of desired compounds in the callus.

### **CHAPTER 2: LITERATURE REVIEW**

2.1 *Lippia nodiflora* (L.) Michx.



Figure 2.1: Lippia nodiflora, leaves and inflorescence.

Taxonomic Hierarchy of Lippia nodiflora (L.) Michx. (Sankaranarayanan, 2008)

Kingdom	Plantae
Division	Spermatophyta
Class	Dicotyledonnae
Order	Lamiales
Family	Verbenaceae
Genus	Lippia
Species	nodiflora

Verbenaceae has a wide range of important species such as Avicennia officinalis, Cleorodendron fragrans, genus Chitarexylum, Duranta repens, Lantana camara, Lippia nodiflora, Premna latifolia, genus Stachytarpheta, Tectona grandis, Verbena venosa, Vitex trifolia and Petrea volubilis. They are mostly mesophytes. They comprises of mostly shrubs, distributed into mangrove shrub (*Avicennia*), climbing or straggling shrub (*Lantana aculeata*), herbs (*Lippia*) and a large tree with big woody trunk such as *Tectona grandis*. They are of the usual tap root type, with simple, opposite and exstipulate structure of leaves. They consist of inflorescence either axillary or terminal and showed much variations. The inflorescence is penduculate, capitate spike in *Lantana* and *Lippia*. The flowers are bracteates with absence of bracteoles, colored or white, complete, hermaphrodite, hypogynous, clearly zygomorphic due to the corolla, and pentamonous reduction of numbers of stamens and carpels. Five sepals, gamosepalous and valvated calyx were recorded. The corolla showed a long or short tube with the upper lip formed by two petals and three sepals at the bottom. The fruit is either a drupe or a capsule, with each cell of the fruit contains one or two seeds (Sambamurthy, 2010). Further notes on *Lippia nodiflora* will be discussed on section 4.3, elaboration on its macromorphology and micromorphology structure.

### 2.2 Tissue culture on *Lippia nodiflora*

Ahmed et al. (2005, 2011a, 2011b) have conducted several studies on *Lippia nodiflora* from micropropagation, callus induction and organogenesis. For micropropagation, MS media supplemented with sucrose (3% w/v), myoinositol (100 mg/L, w/v), benzyl adenine (BA) (0.50- 3.00 mg/L BA) either individually or in combination with 6-furfurylaminopurine (KN) (0.50- 3.00 mg/L KN), indole acetic acid (IAA) (0.40- 1.40 mg/L IAA), indole butyric acid (IBA) (0.40- 1.40 mg/L IBA), naphthalene acetic acid (NAA) (0.50 mg/L NAA) was used for the experiment while Balaji and Ebenezer (2013) had used 0.30% activated charcoal on his experiment. The result showed that the axillary nodal explants cultured on Murashige and Skoog (MS) media without Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs) (control) has induced two shoots with 6.0 cm shoot length. All concentrations of BA and KN had successfully promoted shoot bud initiation in node explants of *L. nodiflora* where BA was the most efficient cytokinin for the axillary bud

initiation and subsequent proliferation of axillary buds with mean of 12.50 shoots from MS media supplemented with 2.50 mg/L BA (Ahmed et al., 2005). MS medium supplemented with BA and IBA was most effective combination PGRs for shoot regeneration where MS media supplemented with 2.50 mg/L BA + 0.50 mg/L IBA successfully obtained mean of 8.70 shoots per node explants (Ahmed et al., 2005). Full strength, half strength and quarter strength of MS media without auxins which acts as control and supplemented with 0.4- 1.4 mg/L concentration of IAA and IBA were used for root induction. Balaji and Ebenezer (2013) also mentioned that root induction had only occurred when a cut vein such as the midrib is in contact with the media. Root was not obtained on control from all different media however, highest root induction was observed on half-strength MS basal medium supplemented with IBA 1.00 mg/L resulted in 72.70% root initiation.

For callus induction, stem and shoot tip explants of *L. nodiflora* were grown in Murashige and Skoog (MS) medium (Murashige & Skoog, 1962), Schenk and Hildebrandt (SH) medium (Schenk & Hildebrandt, 1972), Gamborg B5 medium (Gamborg et al., 1968) and woody plant (WPM) medium (Lloyd & McCown, 1980) supplemented with 1.00- 2.50 mg/L of NAA, 2,4-D, IBA and IAA also 1.00- 3.00 mg/L of BA and KN were used. In all media tested, the callus initiation did not occur without PGRs (control) in stem and shoot tip explants. Callus induction was able to be obtained in PGRs 2,4-D and NAA on all media MS, SH, B5 and WPM which induced green compact callus, green friable callus, white friable callus, white watery callus and brown friable callus in stem and shoot tip explants. Successful callus induction among the various concentrations of auxins were 1.50 mg/L NAA and 2.00 mg/L 2,4-D significantly induced green compact natured callus with a maximum biomass at day 45 based on their fresh and dry weight. Callus biomass progressively increased with an increase in the NAA concentration (>0.50- 3.00 mg/L) and especially with MS media supplemented with 3.50-

5.00 mg/L NAA, callus nature with white friable callus and white watery callus were induced significantly while IAA and IBA drastically reduced the callus biomass resulting in white friable callus in all the media.

Organogenesis on *L. nodiflora* was performed on stem and shoot tip callus where they were placed in respective culture tubes containing MS media supplemented with different concentrations of 1.00- 3.00 mg/L BA and 1.00- 3.00 mg/L KN with 1.50 mg/L NAA and 2.00 mg/L 2,4-D. 100 mg/L of ascorbic acid was added into MS media which function to avoid phenolic excretion from the callus that cause browning of callus and it was subcultured every week up to callus regeneration. Successful callus regeneration was obtained from MS media supplemented with 2.00 mg/L BA and 1.50 mg/L NAA which increased the shoot number (mean of 12.30 shoots per node) with shoot length (4.20 cm) followed by shoot tip explants (mean of 9.60 shoots per shoot tip) with shoot length (3.50 cm) derived callus from stem of *L. nodiflora* after 60 days.

### 2.3 Phytochemical study on *Lippia nodiflora*

Shukla et al. (2009) recorded that the steroid compounds and essential oil can be obtained from petroleum ether extracts of *L. nodiflora* while flavonoids and phenolic compounds was able to be screened from methanolic and aqueous extracts of *L. nodiflora*. The author also mentioned that maceration process of *L. nodiflora* dried powder was done on petroleum ether while soxhlet apparatus was used for chloroform and methanol. On the other hand, Ravikumar and Sudha (2011) recorded that ethanol and aqueous extracts contain alkaloids, carbohydrates, glycosides, fixed oils, fats, tannin and phenolic compounds, proteins, amino acids, gums, mucilage, flavors and flavonoids while petroleum ether extracts contain alkaloids, steroids, fixed oils, fats, proteins and amino acids.

Halleridone and Halleron were isolated from dichloromethane and methanol extracts of *L. nodiflora* leaf (Ravikanth et al., 2002). Flavonoids, such as hispidulin, eupafolin, nodifloretin has been reported from methanolic aerial extracts of *L. nodiflora* (Barua et al., 1971; Ko et al., 2013). Ethanolic aerial extracts of *L. nodiflora* has been reported to contain lippiflorin, nodifloridin, jaceosidin, nepetin and batatifolin (Joshi, 1970; Nair et al., 1973) whereas 6-hydroxyleutolin and luteolin-7-O-glucoside were found to be present in the flowers of *L. nodiflora* (Barnabas et al., 1980). Mono and disulphates of nepetin, hispidulin, jacoesidin, 6-hydroxyleutolin and nodiflorentin were also isolated from the aerial parts of *L. nodiflora* (Tomas et al., 1987). Ecteoside has been isolated from ethanolic ectracts of whole plant of *L. nodiflora* (Khalil et al., 1995). Methyl salicylate, eugenol,  $\alpha$ -copaene,  $\beta$ -bisabolene,  $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol have been identified from methanolic aerial extracts (Ko et al., 2013). Steam distillation of *L. nodiflora* extracts showed the presence of volatile constituents including mixtures of hydrocarbons and oxygenates. The major components  $\beta$ -carbolene, methyl salicylates, linalool and cymen-8-ol (Elakovich & Stevents, 1985).

It was discovered by Siddiqui et al. (2009) that by using methanolic extraction, a compound had been fractionated into two unknown steroids compound which concluded to be stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol. Methanolic extracts was obtained from maceration process was done four times (in room temperature) and solvent were removed by reduced pressure to obtain a syrupy extracts. The extract was fractionated using ethyl acetate subjected into column chromatography over 70- 230 mm silica gel 60E (Merck) eluted with petroleum ether and petroleum ether: ethyl acetate in increasing the polarity order. Priya and Ravindhran (2015) screened the presence of proteins, amino acids, starch, alkaloids, flavonoids, saponins, tannins, steroids and terpenoids. They reported the presence of terpenoids in plant exhibited cytotoxicity activity against microorganism. Plants derived triterpenoids, steroids and saponin are natural anti-infecting agents reacted

against infection-causing agents while flavonoids responsible for the free radical scavenging activity.

Forty-three compounds were identified from Gas Chromatography- Flame Ionization Detector (GC-FID) and Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrophotometer (GC-MS) reported by Argyropoulou et al. (2007) for essential oil of *Lippia citriodora* (Verbenaceae). The major components were geranial (38.70%), neral (24.50%) and limonene (5.80%) were found to be the main components, constituting 69% of the total oil, followed by geraniol (6.00%), germacrene D and  $\alpha$ -curcumene (3.10%), bicyclogermacrene (2.40%),  $\beta$ -caryophyllene (1.80%), (Z)- $\beta$ -ocimene (1.30%) and geranyl acetate (1.10%). However it was mentioned by Pascual et al. (2001) and Terblanche and Kornelius (1996), limonene is the component found to occur in higher quantities in essential oils of the genus *Lippia* (Verbenaceae), followed by:  $\rho$ -cymene,  $\alpha$ pinene, camphor,  $\beta$ -caryophyllene, linalool and thymol in a decreasing order.

Eight compounds were found in *L. nodiflora* as reported by Calvache et al. (2010) where limonene was found abundance (0.914 mg/kg) followed by carvone (0.493 mg/kg) as the two major compounds. The extraction of *L. nodiflora* essential oil was carried out by using hydrodistillation assisted by microwave irradiation (MWHD) using Clevenger (5L) capacity which was located inside microwave and run the essential oil on Shimadzu GC-MS.

Antimicrobial studies of *L. nodiflora* were done to ensure its source as an antimicrobial agent. Several species of bacteria (positive/negative) and fungi had been done according to previous study. Different solvents of extraction gave different yields of bacteria inhibition. According to Wink (1999), plant extracts was fractionated to obtain different secondary metabolites presence especially for exhibiting antimicrobial activities to be isolated. The antimicrobial activity that presence was mentioned might be due to
alkaloids, flavonoids, phenolic compounds, terpenoids and tannins. Table 2.1 and 2.2 show some of the antibacterial and antifungal studies, respectively.

Species	Solvent of extraction	Reference
Bacillus subtilis	Hexane, chloroform,	Malathi et al. (2011)
	alcohol	
	Methanol	Sumathi et al. (2012)
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Aqueous, ethanol, ethyl	Ullah et al. (2013)
	acetate, chloroform, n-	
	butanol, η- hexane	
Bacillus cereus	Hexane, chloroform,	Malathi et al. (2011)
	alcohol	
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Methanol, chloroform,	Thamaraiselvi et al.
	Hexane, Petroleum ether	(2013)
Enterococcus faecalis	Hexane, chloroform, ethyl	Priya & Ravindhran
v	acetate	(2015)
Escherichia coli	Methanol, chloroform	Sumathi et al. (2012)
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Methanol	Salve & Bhuktar
		(2012)
	n- butanol	Ullah et al. (2013)
	Methanol, chloroform,	Thamaraiselvi et al.
	Hexane, Petroleum ether	(2013)
	Ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran
		(2015)
Haemophilus influenza	Methanol	Molina-Salinas et al.
I J J		(2007)
Klebsiella pneumoniae	Methanol, chloroform	Sumathi et al. (2012)
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Chloroform, ethyl acetate,	Priva & Ravindhran
	methanol	(2015)
Kelebsiella oxytoca	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
Micrococcus luteus	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Ethyl acetate	Priva & Ravindhran
	5	(2015)
Proteus mirabilis	Methanol, chloroform,	Thamaraiselvi et al.
	Hexane, Petroleum ether	(2013)
Proteus valgaris	Methanol	Sumathi et al. (2012)
Pseudomonas	Methanol	Salve & Bhuktar
aeroginosa		(2012)
0	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
	Methanol. chloroform.	Thamaraiselvi et al.
	Hexane, Petroleum ether	(2013)
	Hexape, chloroform.	Priva & Ravindhran
	methanol	(2015)
		(/

 Table 2.1: Antibacterial studies on selected species of Lippia nodiflora.

Species	Solvent of extraction	Reference
Salmonella typhi	Aqueous, ethyl acetate, chloroform, η- butanol, η- hexane	Ullah et al. (2013)
-	Methanol, chloroform,	Thamaraiselvi et al.
	Hexane, Petroleum ether	(2013)
-	Hexane, ethyl acetate, methanol	Priya & Ravindhrar (2015)
Salmonella paratyphi A	Hexane, chloroform, alcohol	Malathi et al. (2011
Salmonella paratyphi B	Hexane, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran (2015)
Shiegella flexneri	Hexane, chloroform, alcohol	Malathi et al. (2011
-	Chloroform, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran (2015)
Staphylococcus aureus (+)	Hexane, chloroform, alcohol	Malathi et al. (2011
-	Methanol	Salve & Bhuktar (2012)
-	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
_	Methanol, chloroform	Sumathi et al. (2012
	Methanol, chloroform, Hexane, Petroleum ether	Thamaraiselvi et al (2013)
	Ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran (2015)
<i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> (Methicillin resistant)	Aqueous, ethanol, ethyl acetate, chloroform, η- butanol, η- hexane	Ullah et al. (2013)
.01	Ethyl acetate, methanol	Priya & Ravindhran (2015)
Staphylococcus	Aqueous, ethanol, ethyl	Ullah et al. (2013)
epidermatitis (-)	acetate, chloroform, η- hexane	
	Hexane, chloroform, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhra (2015)
Streptococcus pneumoniae	Methanol	Molina-Salinas et a (2007)
Vibrio cholerae	Chloroform, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran

# Table 2.1, continued

Species	Solvent of extraction	Reference
Aspergillus niger	Aqueous, ethanol,	Ravikumar & Sudha
	petroleum ether	(2011)
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
Candida albicans	Aqueous, ethanol,	Ravikumar & Sudha
	petroleum ether	(2011)
	Methanol	Zare et al. (2012)
_	Hexane, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran
		(2015)
Candida tropicalis	Ethyl acetate, methanol	Priya & Ravindhran
		(2015)
Microsporum gypseum	Ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran
		(2015)
Malassezia	Hexane, ethyl acetate	Priya & Ravindhran
pachydermatis		(2015)
Trichophyton	Ethyl acetate, methanol	Priya & Ravindhran
mentagrophytes		(2015)

**Table 2.2:** Antifungal studies on selected species of Lippia nodiflora.

Antioxidant activity has been described to be associated with a lower incidence of cancer and cardiovascular diseases (Diplock, 1998). The cause of diseases occurred from several types of reactive species in the form of free radicals or non-radicals that are generated in human body as a result of metabolic reaction, in which the species can be called as prooxidants consisted from either oxygen-derived or nitrogen-derived. The prooxidants attack macromolecules including lipid, protein and DNA, which lead to cellular level and tissue level damages. The presence of endogenous and exogenous antioxidants are therefore essential to counter these effects. Equally important are minerals like Se, Mn, Cu and Zn, enzymes like superoxide dismutase, catalase, glutathione peroxidase and glutathione reductase, vitamins like vitamin A, C and E also compounds with antioxidant activity include glutathione, flavonoids, bilirubin and uric acid. Prooxidants and antioxidants need to maintain its ratio in a healthy body where a slight shift in this ratio towards prooxidants gives rise to oxidative stress (Irshad & Chaudhuri, 2002).

Oxidative stress may be either mild or severe, depending on the extent of shift of prooxidants over antioxidants. Monsen (2000) and Irshad and Chaudhuri (2002) recorded that, this oxidative stress is the cause of several diseases, which are cancer, cardiovascular diseases, cataracts, diabetes, inflammatory problems, neurological diseases, age-related macular degeneration malignancies, renal diseases, skin diseases, aging, respiratory diseases, liver diseases and different types of viral infections. Shukla et al. (2009) reported that methanolic extracts of aerial parts of *L. nodiflora* has shown to possess antioxidant property, nonetheless leaf extracts was recorded by Teoh et al. (2013) to possess higher antioxidant content than stem extracts and there are several antioxidant studies has been done on *L. nodiflora* as tabulated in Table 2.3.

Extracts	Type of assay	Significant/ not significant	Part of plant	Reference
		(√/ X)	>	
Methanol	DPPH	$\checkmark$	Aerial	Shukla et al. (2009)
(defatted by	HP			
petroleum ether	NO	$\checkmark$		
and	NBT	$\checkmark$		
chloroform)	βCL			
-	RP			
Crude ethanol	DPPH		Leaf	Teoh et al. (2013)
		Х	Stem	
Crude methanol			Leaf	
			Stem	
Crude methanol	DPPH		Leaf	Thamaraiselvi et al. (2013)
-	HP	V		
Ethyl acetate	DPPH		Aerial	Sudha and Srinivasan
fraction	SO			(2014)
-	-H			
-	FRAP			
-	LP			
Methanol	DPPH		Aerial	Fang et al. (2014)
(purified with	ABTS	$\checkmark$		-
η-hexane)	SO			
-	MT			

Table 2.3: Antioxidant studies on Lippia nodiflora extracts.

<sup>\*</sup>DPPH= DPPH Radical Scavenging Activity, HP= Scavenging Of Hydrogen Peroxide, NO= Nitric Oxide Radical (NO) Scavenging Activity, NBT= Nitro blue Tetrazolium (NBT) Reduction Assay,  $\beta$ CL= $\beta$ -Carotene Linoleate Bleaching Assay, RP= Reducing Power Assay, SO= Superoxide Radical-Scavenging Assay, -H= Hydroxyl Radical Scavenging Assay, FRAP= Ferric Reducing Antioxidant Power) Assay, LP=Lipid Peroxidation Assay, ABTS= ABTS Cation Radical Scavenging Assay, MT= Mushroom Tyrosinase Inhibition Assay

# 2.4 Anticancer studies on *Lippia nodiflora*

Cancer can be defined as an abnormal growth of cells caused by multiple changes in gene expressions leading to dysregulated balance of cell proliferation and cell death. This will ultimately evolve into a population of cells that can invade tissues and metastasize to distant sites, causing significant morbidity and, if untreated, death of the host Ruddon (2007). Cancer is a condition that affects people all over the world and a leading cause of morbidity and mortality worldwide, with approximately 14 million new cases and 8.2 million cancer related death in 2012 as reported in World Health Organization (WHO). It is expected that incident of new cancer cases will rise 70% within two decades with five common cancers diagnosed among women are breast, colorectum, lung, cervix and stomach cancer. The undesirable side effects of chemotherapy and surgery have triggered the search of new compounds from plant to fight cancer. Plants have become primary sources for cancer prevention and treatment strategies because they are relatively safer than synthetic drugs (Teoh et al., 2013).

The extracted compounds from *L. nodiflora* leaf which are Halleridone and Halleron are known to possess anticancer, antitumor and cytotoxic activities (Ravikanth et al., 2002). The methanol and ethyl acetate extracts of leaf and stem of *L. nodiflora* exert antiprolifeative effect on human breast adenocarcinoma (MCF-7) cell within the range of 90-120  $\mu$ g/ml (Teoh et al., 2013). In comparison, the IC<sub>50</sub> values obtained from Teoh et al. (2013) has been found much higher than as recorded by Vanajothi et al. (2012), whom conducted anti- proliferative study on lung cancer. The anti- proliferative activity of *L. nodiflora* was associated with its antioxidant activity, where extract with lower EC<sub>50</sub> values will have higher antioxidant activity, thus resulting in high IC<sub>50</sub> values of antiproliferative activity. Extensive research has been carried out from last decades to discover potential constituents from plant sources. Kaur et al. (2011) have found that stigmasterol is an important constituent and has been successfully isolated from plants. Stigmasterol has involved in many of the synthesis of hormones such as progesterone, androgens, estrogens and corticoids. It also has many of its derivatives which are spinasterol, fucosterol, cyasterone, stigmasterol glucoside, fucosterol epoxide, stigma-4en-3one, 29-fluorostigmasterol and others. Effective in pharmacological studies, stigmasterol possess anti-osteoarthritic, anti-hypercholestrolemic, anti-tumor, antioxidant, antimutagenic, anti-inflammatory, cytotoxic, showed significant analgesic activity and also contributes to hypoglycemic activity. Stigmasterol has been found in *L. nodiflora* in several studies (Zare et al., 2012; Sharma & Singh, 2013; Sudha & Srinivasan, 2013; Jabeen et al., 2016). The summary of anticancer studies on *L. nodiflora* has been simplified into Table 2.4.

Cell line	Extraction	Assay	Significant/ not significant (√/ X)	Part of plant	Reference
Human lung	Methanol	MTT		Aerial	Vanajothi et al.
cancer cell line,		assay		_	(2012)
NCI-H460		Apoptasis	$\checkmark$		
Human breast	Methanol	MTT		Leaf	Teoh et al.
adenocarcinoma,		assay	Х	Stem	(2013)
WICI'-7	Ethyl			Leaf	-
	acetate	-	Х	Stem	-
	Methanol	Apoptasis		Leaf	-
		-	Х	Stem	-
	Ethyl	•		Leaf	-
	acetate				

 Table 2.4: Anticancer studies on Lippia nodiflora extracts.

# 2.5 Other studies on *Lippia nodiflora*

*L. nodiflora* has been used to treat many diseases in past years and has been used as traditional medicine for various skin diseases and cosmetics among the tribal communities (Sharma & Singh, 2013).  $\beta$ -sitosterol isolated from methanolic extracts of *L. nodiflora* has been screened for antidiabetic potential by Rangachari and Savarimuthu (2011). The compound was administered to streptozotocin induced diabetic rats and glycosylated hemoglobin was decreased along with blood glucose level with significant increment of plasma insulin, body weight and food intake.  $\beta$ -sitosterol also had been evaluated to possess antihyperlipidemic effect. Other than anticancer properties, it also contains a number of potential compounds to inhibit or cure other diseases as listed in Table 2.5.

Target study	Procedure	Reference
Skin disease (Melanogenesis	<ul><li>Methanolic extracts</li><li>MTT assay on B16F10</li></ul>	Yen et al. (2012)
inhibitor)	melanoma and human keratinocyte (HaCaT) cells and 3T3 (mouse embryonic fibroblast) cells	
	• Determination of cellular melanin content and cellular tyrosinase activity	
	<ul> <li>Analysis of the expression of proteins regulating melanogenesis by Western Blotting</li> </ul>	
Melanogenesis inhibitor- Eupafolin	<ul> <li>Methanolic extracts</li> <li>MTT assay on B16F10 melanoma and human keratinocyte (HaCaT) cells</li> </ul>	Chiang et al. (2014)
	Determination of cellular melanin content and cellular tyrosinase activity	
	Analysis of the expression of proteins regulating melanogenesis by Western Blotting	

Table 2.5: Other studies on aerial part of Lippia nodiflora extracts.

# Table 2.5, continued

Target study	Procedure	Reference		
Antihyperuricemic agents (flavonoids and phenylethanoid glycosides)	<ul> <li>Methanolic extracts</li> <li>Chemically-induced hyperuricemic animal model - Male Sprague- Dawley rats (160–300g)</li> <li>Evaluation of uricosuric effect</li> <li>Molecular docking of 6- hydroxyluteolin on xanthine oxidase</li> <li>Acute toxicity study</li> </ul>	Cheng et al. (2015)		
Anti- hepatotoxic activity	<ul> <li>Acute toxicity study</li> <li>Methanolic extracts</li> <li>Fractionation of plant extract</li> <li>Biochemical analysis on treated liver of male albino Wistar rats (150-170g)</li> </ul>	Sudha et al. (2013)		
Anti- diuretic	<ul> <li>Methanol and aqueous extracts</li> <li>Aerial part of <i>L. nodiflora</i></li> <li>Assessed in albino rats using <i>in vivo</i> Lipschitz test model</li> </ul>	Shukla et al. (2009)		
Anti- diabetic and hypolipidemic effect	<ul> <li>Methanol extract</li> <li>Successfully isolated β-sitosterol</li> <li>Assessed in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats</li> </ul>	Rangachari & Savarimuthu (2011)		

# 2.6 Research Gap

Previous reviews of tissue culture on callus induction on media supplemented with PGRs has experienced the browning of callus. Ahmed et al. (2011b) has observed brown friable callus in the callus induction of *Lippia nodiflora*. Gupta et al. (2001) recorded a dark-brown calli after two to three weeks of initiation on *Lippia alba* (Verbenaceae). However, JibinaBai et al. (2014) reported *Lippia alba* induced brown friable callus and profuse callusing after 9 days of inoculation. In the present study, the browning of callus was generated as fast as eight days of inoculation. Rapid and consistent subculturing were needed to maintain the green, viable culture for harness. This situation has demanded substantial amount of media, space, labour and time, thus an effective solution is desperately needed for the culturing of this important species.

Callus was induced in MS media supplemented with PGRs, investigating several treatments using single and combination PGRs. Single treatments auxins (2,4-D, NAA, IAA and IBA) and cytokinins (BA and KN) showed similar outcome of previous study while combination PGRs auxin and cytokinins have shown positive development of callus. As the present investigation has provided a longer maintenance duration after inoculation of callus, a cost- effective, less labour intensive and time saving *Lippia nodiflora* culturing can be achieved to ensure sufficient time for callus harvesting and optimum nutrient absorption by the callus of *L. nodiflora*. Data on phytochemical properties will further contribute to medical and pharmaceutical industry for cancer treatment along with antidiabetic and antimelogenesis properties of *L. nodiflora* cultures.

In morphology aspect, *Phyla canescens* was found to have almost similar characteristics to *P. nodiflora*, however it can be distinguished by its canescent stems and leaves, and blunt short teeth on its leaf tips (Munir, 1993). Taxonomic revision of both species must be interpreted in the current order of taxonomic classification as there may

be an overlap in the morphology and habitat of these two species (Leigh & Walton, 2004). Mashile and Tshisikhame (2017) mentioned the importance of separation and linkage in higher level of taxonomic hierarchy provided through leaf epidermal features in some cases, and its properties could be associated in functional aspects of leaf venation. Furthermore, additional taxonomic data based on its foliar micromorphology can improve the identification of this two species. Based on the research discussed above, there are lack of taxonomic reports on *P. nodiflora* in Malaysia. Therefore, this study aims to carry out taxonomic study particularly on the micromorphology to add more taxonomic information to the species.

#### **CHAPTER 3: METHODOLOGY**

#### **3.1** Introduction

The following part explicates the basic principle of analytical methods applied in this study to provide general understanding on the flow and employment of the present experimental design. Sections represent the field of all studies elaborated in method steps by steps of each sub-section conducted throughout the experiments.

# **3.2** Plant Materials and Identification

Healthy, young leaf and stem explants of *Lippia nodiflora* were collected from Taman Rimba Ampang, Selangor, Malaysia (Latitudes 3° 8' 57", longitudes 101° 47' 28"), and maintained at the Institute of Biological Sciences (IBS) Garden, Faculty of Science, University of Malaya, Kuala Lumpur, Malaysia. Voucher specimen (Figure 3.1) was also prepared (KLU47924) and kept at the University of Malaya herbarium (KLU). *L. nodiflora* can be found in MARDI Station, Klang, Selangor; Taman Rimba Ampang, Selangor; Penang Botanic Garden, Penang; Pantai Peranginan Kelulut, Terengganu and Singapore Botanic Garden, Singapore which are near the river and the sea (Figure 3.2). It is also widely cultivated by farmers at Jelebu, Negeri Sembilan. The collected plants were mostly from Taman Rimba Ampang, Selangor. The plants were maintained in 10 pots at Institute Biological Sciences Garden, Faculty of Science, University of Malaya for tissue culture work. *L. nodiflora* was collected from the field and had been dried for phytochemical work.



**Figure 3.1:** Herbarium specimen of *Lippia nodiflora* at University of Malaya Herbarium (KLU47924).



Figure 3.2: Distribution of *Lippia nodiflora* in Peninsular Malaysia.

# 3.3 Morphology of Lippia nodiflora

#### 3.3.1 Macro-morphology of Lippia nodiflora

*L. nodiflora* was collected from the field and washed thoroughly using tap water. Dirt on the sample was removed to obtain quality image for viewing. The sample was cut into parts to be recorded and identified. The collected seed was viewed under Optika ST-30-2LF, binocular dissecting microscope with 20x- 40x magnification with additional aid light source from Nikon Inverted Microscope Lamp and Transformer.

# 3.3.2 Micromorphology of Lippia nodiflora

#### 3.3.2.1 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscopy (FESEM)

Small fresh leaves of *L. nodiflora*, 4- 6 mm in length, were collected and were fixed in 8% glutaraldehyde with Sorensen's Phosphate Buffer solution (1: 1) for one hour and were rinsed using distilled water: Sorensen's Phosphate Buffer solution (1: 1). Samples were soaked in 4% Osmium: distilled water (1: 3) for 14 hours in low temperature (5°C) or for one hour in room temperature inside the fume chamber. Samples were dehydrated in a graded series of ethanol (20- 100% X3) for 15 minutes per rinse. Then the samples were dehydrated in three times degradation of 100% ethanol: 100% acetone for 20 minutes with ratio of 3: 1, 1: 1 and 1: 3 and 4 times degrade in 100% acetone for 20 minutes. This was followed by critical point drying with liquid carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) in an Auto sampler 810 critical point dryer and sputter-coating with gold-palladium in a LEICA EM SCD005 sputter coater. Both the adaxial and abaxial surfaces were observed under JEOL- 7500F Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope. Structures such as stomata, trichomes and oil gland were observed and recorded.

#### 3.3.2.2 Leaf Epidermal Peel

Leaves were soaked in 10% nitric acid (HNO<sub>3</sub>) solution overnight until the laminas of the leaves were soft and bloated. The leaves were then washed with distilled water. The epidermal layers of the abaxial and adaxial surfaces of the leaves were peeled using sharp forceps and then placed into separate Petri-dishes containing distilled water. Every epidermal of the leaves that were peeled were then immersed in a solution containing 5% sodium hypochlorite, or also known as Clorox, for five minutes. Next, dehydration steps were done 15 minutes for Safranin 'O' (Merck, Germany), followed by 30, 50, 75, 90, 95, 100% ethanol and 100% ethanol: 100% xylene for 2 minutes each, then with 100% xylene for one minute. Slides were observed under a binocular microscope. The epidermal peel was done to study the presence of stomata and trichomes on the adaxial and abaxial surfaces, anticlinal wall, and types of stomata. Stomata index can be calculated as shown;

Stomata index: <u>Total number of stomata</u> x 100% Total number of epidermal cell + number of stomata

# 3.4 Tissue Culture Studies

#### 3.4.1 Sterilization Method

Leaf and stem explants of *L. nodiflora* were washed thoroughly for 30 minutes, then rinsed with sterile distilled water including 2% (v/v) Teepol (Labchem, Malaysia) for 10 minutes; then washed with 70% ethanol for three minutes followed by 20% sodium hypochlorite (Clorox, Malaysia) for three minutes and lastly washed with 0.10% mercury (II) chloride, HgCl<sub>2</sub> (Merck, Germany) for two minutes. Prior to inoculation, explants were washed three times with sterile distilled water.

# 3.4.2 Callus Induction of *Lippia nodiflora*

*L. nodiflora* was cultured in aseptic conditions to obtain callus induction. The leaf and stem explants were cultured in MS media (Murashige & Skoog, 1962) supplemented with plant growth regulators (PGRs) such as auxin, naphthaleneacetic acid (NAA, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands), 2, 4- dichlorophenoxyacetic acid (2, 4-D, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands), indole-3-butyric acid (IBA, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands) and indole-3-acetic acid (IAA, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands), also cytokinin of benzyl adenine (BA, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands) and kinetin (KN, Duchefa Biochemie, Netherlands) which will be tested in many concentrations (0.50- 4.00 mg/L). Number of treatments on callus induction for single PGRs was shown in Table 3.1 and combination PGRs was shown in Table 3.2. The leaf and stem explants were surface injured using scalpel to give a few slight cuts and it was faced the media abaxially. They were maintained at  $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C, 16/8 hours (light/dark) of photoperiod with 25 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> of light intensity.

No.	Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs)					
		Aux	kin		Cy	tokinin
	NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IBA	BA	KN
1	-	-	-	-	-	-
2	0.50					
3	1.00					
4	1.50					
5	2.00					
6	2.50					
7	3.00					
8	3.50					
9	4.00					
10		0.50				
11		1.00				
12		1.50				
13		2.00				
14		2.50				
15		3.00				
16		3.50				
17		4.00				
18			0.50			
19			1.00			
20			1.50			
21			2.00			
22			2.50			
23			3.00			
24			3.50			
25	•		4.00			
26				0.50		
27				1.00		
28				1.50		
29				2.00		
30				2.50		
31				3.00		
32				3.50		
33	-			4.00		
34					1.00	
35					2.00	
36					3.00	
37						1.00
38						2.00
39						3.00

# **Table 3.1:** Number of treatments on callus induction for single PGRs.

No.	Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs) (mg/L)						
		Au	ıxin		Cytok	inin	
	NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IBA	BA	KN	
1	2.00				1.00		
2	2.50				1.00		
3	3.00				1.00		
4	2.00				2.00		
5	2.50				2.00		
6	3.00				2.00		
7		2.00			1.00		
8		2.50			1.00		
9		3.00			1.00		
10		2.00			2.00		
11		2.50			2.00		
12		3.00			2.00		
13			2.00		1.00		
14			2.50		1.00		
15			3.00		1.00		
16			2.00		2.00		
17			2.50		2.00		
18			3.00		2.00		
19				2.00	1.00		
20				2.50	1.00		
21				3.00	1.00		
22				2.00	2.00		
23				2.50	2.00		
24				3.00	2.00		
25	2.00					1.00	
26	2.50					1.00	
27	3.00					1.00	
28	2.00					2.00	
29	2.50		*			2.00	
30	3.00					2.00	
31		2.00				1.00	
32		2.50				1.00	
33		3.00				1.00	
34		2.00				2.00	
35		2.50				2.00	
36		3.00				2.00	
37			2.00			1.00	
38			2.50			1.00	
39			3.00			1.00	
40			2.00			2.00	
41			2.50			2.00	
42			3.00	2.00		2.00	
43				2.00		1.00	
44				2.50		1.00	
45				3.00		1.00	
46				2.00		2.00	
47				2.50		2.00	
48				3.00		2.00	

# **Table 3.2:** Number of treatments on callus induction for combination PGRs.

### 3.4.3 *In vitro* callus growth curve

Callus cultures were optimized and evaluated quantitatively for their nature, biomass and bioactive compound content at the end of their respective growth cycle based on a previous protocol (Ahmed et al., 2011a). By treating with various concentrations of auxin, fresh and dry weights of the callus were determined at 7, 14, 21 and 28 days. At regular interval for all the treatments, each callus was harvested by careful separation from media using scalpel, and fresh and dry weight were recorded (Figure 3.3).



Figure 3.3: Induced callus from leaf and stem explants.

# 3.4.4 Shoot Regeneration of *Lippia nodiflora*

*L. nodiflora* was cultured in aseptic conditions to regenerate the shoots. The leaf and stem explants were cultured vertically in MS media (Murashige & Skoog, 1962) supplemented with plant growth regulators such as auxin, NAA, 2, 4-D, IBA and IAA with its combinations concentrations (2.00 mg/L, 2.50 mg/L and 3.00 mg/L) also cytokinin of BA and KN with its combinations which will be tested in many concentrations (1.00- 3.00 mg/L). The number of treatments for shoot regeneration is shown in Table 3.3. The regenerated shoots were transferred to the MS media with supplemented PGRs to provide mass plant production. They were maintained at  $25\pm2^{\circ}$ C, 16/8 hours (light/dark) of photoperiod with 25 µmol m<sup>-2</sup>s<sup>-1</sup> of light intensity.

No.	Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs) (mg/L)							
	NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IBA	BA	KN		
1	-	-	-	-	-	-		
2	2.00							
3	2.50							
4	3.00							
5		2.00						
6		2.50						
7		3.00						
8			2.00					
9			2.50					
10			3.00					
11				2.00				
12				2.50				
13				3.00	NU			
14					1.00			
15					2.00			
16					3.00			
17						1.00		
18						2.00		
19						3.00		
20			2.00		1.0			
21			2.50		1.0			
22			3.00		1.0			
23			2.00		2.0			
24			2.50		2.0			
25	C		3.00		2.0			
26			2.00			1.0		
27			2.50			1.0		
28			3.00			1.0		
29			2.00			2.0		
30			2.50			2.0		
31			3.00			2.0		
32				2.00	1.0			
33				2.50	1.0			
34				3.00	1.0			
35				2.00	2.0			
36				2.50	2.0			
37				3.00	2.0			
38				2.00		1.0		
39				2.50		1.0		
40				3.00		1.0		
41				2.00		2.0		
42				2.50		2.0		
43				3.00		2.0		

 Table 3.3: The number of treatments for shoot regeneration of stem explants of L.

 nodiflora.

# 3.4.5 Root Induction and Acclimatization

The minimal length of shoots were developed up to 4.00 cm and above, then shoots were cut and transferred to rooting MS media supplemented with 1.00- 3.00 mg/L 2,4-D, IBA, IAA and NAA. After 20 days, the successful root induction was observed, the number of roots as per shoot was recorded and tabulated.

Plantlets were successfully developed from rooted plantlets. The roots were washed in running tap water to remove the media. Rooted shoots were planted in Plantaflor® soil in plastic pots covered with a plastic bag that had holes for about four weeks duration. The plantlets were removed from the pots and transferred into the field. The soil used was Plantaflor® Young Plant Substrate, which consisted of 50% white peat + 50% black peat + 1.00 kg NPK fertilizer, including trace elements and the structure of the soil was fine.

## 3.5 Phytochemical studies on *in vivo* leaf and stem and *in vitro* callus

# 3.5.1 Sample extractions

15 g powdered *L. nodiflora* dried leaves and stems of intact plant and 5 g of callus that was dried using oven at 35°C for 48 hours were used.

### Decoction of L. nodiflora

The samples were boiled in 100 mL of distilled water using boiling water bath for 15-20 minutes while stirring occasionally. The beaker was removed from the heat and allowed to cool for 15 minutes. The extracts were filtered through regular filter paper to remove any solid particles.

# Maceration of L. nodiflora

The samples were placed in a closed flasks containing 100 mL of methanol, ethanol (HPLC grade, Merck, Germany) and distilled water respectively. The flasks were shaken

occasionally for seven days using shake culture at 80 rpm. The extracts were filtered through regular filter paper to remove any solid particles.

# Percolation of L. nodiflora

The samples including 15 g of fresh leaf and stem explants were extracted using Soxhlet apparatus with 250 mL of methanol (HPLC grade, Merck, Germany) for 24 hours. The extracts were filtered through regular filter paper to remove any solid particles.

The collected extracts from the three protocols were centrifuged at 10,000 x g for about 10 minutes in room temperature. Then, the methanol supernatant of dried leaf, stem and callus went through the rotary evaporator (IKA) and the crystallized extracts were kept in  $-4^{\circ}$ C, until it wants to be used, they were dissolved in methanol. The dried extracts were screened through TLC to optimize the method, then followed by metabolite profiling using GCMS and targeted analysis through HPLC and HPTLC with standard of the bioactive compounds for the quantification of bioactive compounds (Seal, 2016). The fresh and dried extracts of *L. nodiflora* were used in anticancer screening on colon cancer cells.

# 3.5.2 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC)

Methanolic extracts of leaf, stem and callus explants was collected and was analyzed by TLC. TLC was performed using 10 x 20 cm (width x height) silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub> (Merck, Germany) with hexane: acetone (4:1) and (3:1) as solvent system. After loading the extracts onto the TLC plate, the experiment was run for one hour long and next it was viewed under 254 nm and 365 nm UV light then the 10% sulphuric reagent was applied to the TLC plate for the determination of steroid compounds with standard stigmasterol and  $\beta$ - sitosterol. Distance of solvent and distance of each bands were measured to calculate retardation factor (R<sub>f</sub>) value using following formula; R<sub>f</sub> = <u>Migration distance of substance</u> Migration distance of solvent front

#### **3.5.3 Gas Chromatography- Mass Spectrometry (GC- MS)**

GC- MS analysis of leaf and stem extracts of *L. nodiflora* was performed using the equipment Shimadzu GC- MS QP2010 with with a CPB-capillary column (mm i.d.  $\times$  50 m length). The initial oven temperature was 40°C held for one minute which then it was increase from 40°C to 280°C at the rate of 4°C/minute. The injector temperature was 280°C, the transfer line 280°C and the ion source 200°C. The carrier gas used was helium with a flow rate of 20 psi. The sample volume injected was 10µL as sample was dissolved in methanol with the ratio of 1: 10. The identification of components was based on NIST library on comparison of their retention indices. The constituents were identified after comparison with those available in the computer library (NIST 8.0) attached to the GC-MS instrument and the results obtained have been tabulated. Quantitative analyses of each bioactive component (expressed as area percentage) were carried out by a peak area normalization measurement, calculated as mean values of three injections from each sample.

#### **3.5.4 High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography (HPTLC)**

The methanolic extracts of *L. nodiflora* leaf, stem, and callus explants (5  $\mu$ L) was applied in the Camag HPTLC system assisted with sample applicator Linomat V for quantification of the desired bioactive compound standards (stigmasterol and  $\beta$ sitosterol). HPTLC plate Silica gel 60 F<sub>254</sub>, 20 x 20 cm was used, the mobile phase used were hexane: acetone (4:1; 3:1) according to TLC and chloroform: ethanol (98:2) was adopted from Kamboj and Saluja (2013) for 20 minutes with saturation pads. Mobile phase chloroform: ethanol (98:2) were continued for analysis as it has given good separation of bands especially better view under white light, UV 254 nm (green) and UV 365 nm (purple). Then, it was scanned at 254 and 365 nm by the use of TLC visualizer and the supporting software winCAT 4.0. After the data was recorded, the plate was sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid (H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub>) in methanol and heated with CAMAG TLC Plate Heater III at 110°C for 10 minutes.

#### **3.5.5** High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC)

Stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol were screened in *in vitro* callus, leaf and stem (1 mg/mL) extracts of L. nodiflora. A JASCO HPLC model with UV detector was used with Chromolith® High Resolution Reserve Phase (RP)-18 column (with column dimension: 250mm x 4mm and particle size of 5 µm) (Merck, Germany). The flow rate was set at 1.50 mL/minute with injection volume of 10  $\mu$ L. The detection wavelength for all dyes was set at 506 nm. The mobile phase used was acetonitrile: methanol with 80:20 ratio. The solvents and other chemicals used were of HPLC grade (Merck, Germany). The data obtained was recorded. The quantification of stigmasterol and β-sitosterol in L. nodiflora extracts has been done. Chromatographic peaks were identified on the basis of retention time. The concentrations of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol were calculated by comparing the integrated peak areas of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol in the extract chromatograms with that of a standard curve prepared for the corresponding standard solution. The conventional flow standard curves (area versus concentration) were constructed for the external standard stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol, freshly prepared. The external standard curves constructed by six concentration points (100, 200, 300, 400, 500 and 600 mg/mL). Data for the standard curve were generated using Microsoft Excel. For analytical recovery studies, sample extract was mixed with known amounts of standards and rechromatographed to ascertain whether the peak of interest increased in height and area. Spiked peaks were also checked for peak symmetry and peak purity.



Figure 3.4: HPLC system unit.

# 3.5.6 Antimicrobial Activity Assay (Disk Diffusion Method) (Adopted from Bauer et al., 1966)

The agar media was prepared for bacterial and fungal culture. Nutrient agar was used to culture two species of bacteria which were *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis*. While, potato dextrose agar was prepared to culture two species of fungi which were *Candida albicans* and *Aspergillus niger*. The plant extracts were tested for antimicrobial activity by using disc diffusion method. The antibacterial activities were tested against methanolic extracts of leaf, stem and callus. About 15- 20 mL of nutrient and potato dextrose agar media was poured in the sterilized petri dish and allowed to solidify. Disc for extracts were prepared by using filter paper with 5 mm diameter. Extracts with different concentrations (0.50, 1.00 and 1.50 mg/mL) were used to test antimicrobial activity and compared with positive control which were standard ampicillin (20 mg/mL) for bacteria and fluconazole (20 mg/mL) for fungi with 0.02 mg/mL as final concentration. 20  $\mu$ L of the test strain (1.00x10<sup>5</sup> CFU/mL) was inoculated into the media in laminar flow under sterile condition. 5  $\mu$ L of plant extracts or control were dropped on top of the disc with different concentrations were placed on the agar with different types of microbes. Plates were incubated in air at 37°C (bacteria) and 25°C (fungal) for 24 hours. Antimicrobial activities were evaluated by measuring inhibition zone diameters and the data was observed and recorded.

# 3.5.7 Radical Scavenging Activity (DPPH Assay)

Lippia nodiflora extracts of different concentrations (2000, 4000, 6000, 8000 and 10000 µg/mL) were used to test the antioxidant activity. 1, 1-Diphenyl-2-picryl-hydrazyl (DPPH) and ascorbic acid that were used was obtained from R&M Marketing (Essex, UK). Stock solutions of DPPH were prepared in methanol, and methanol buffered with acetic acid buffer (0.10 M, pH 5.5), respectively. Buffered methanol was prepared by mixing 40 mL of 0.10 M acetate buffer (pH 5.5) with 60 mL methanol. The solvents and other chemicals used were of analytical grade. The reaction tubes, in triplicates, were wrapped in aluminium foil and kept at 30°C for 30 minutes in dark. All measurements were done under dim light. Spectrophotometric measurements were done at 517 nm using spectrophotometer. Antioxidant level was calculated using the following formula:

DPPH free radical scavenging 
$$(\%) = 1$$
- (Absorbance of sample) x 100  
(Absorbance of control)

These values were plotted against concentration of samples to obtain amount of antioxidant necessary to decrease the initial DPPH concentration by 50% (IC<sub>50</sub>). The kinetics of the antioxidant reaction in the presence of *Lippia nodiflora* extracts was compared with vitamin C (ascorbic acid) as antioxidant reference. All the assays were performed in triplicate.

# 3.6 HCT 116 Cell Line Anticancer Study

# 3.6.1 Media Preparation

#### **Basic Media Preparation**

McCoy's 5A media was used for HCT116 colon cancer cells maintenance. Firstly, the distilled water was filled into 1 L beaker and 10.40 g of the media powder was poured in. 2 g of sodium bicarbonate (NaHCO<sub>3</sub>) and 0.5206 g HEPES was weighed and added into mixture. The mixture then was adjusted to pH 7.4 with HCl and the mixture was filtered into sterile bottle using sterile swinnex.

# Supplemented 10% Media

The basic media was used to make the media supplemented with 10% Fetal Bovine Serum (FBS) (Sigma, United States). Fresh made basic media was then used to be added with 10% FBS. If the basic media was refrigerated, it was thawed to 37°C along with FBS, Penicillin/ Streptomycin (Sigma, United States) and Amphotericin B (Sigma, United States). 90 mL of basic media was transferred into a sterile beaker and 10 mL of FBS was also added along with 2 mL of Penicillin/ Streptomycin and 1 mL of Amphotericin B. Then the mixture was filtered into sterile bottle using sterile millipore filter, 0.22 µm (Whatman).

# Supplemented 20% Media

Fresh made supplemented 10% media was used along with thawed FBS. 50 mL of supplemented 10% media was added with 5 mL of FBS into a sterile beaker. If the media and FBS was refrigerated, it was thawed to 37°C. Then the mixture was filtered into sterile bottle using sterile millipore filter, 0.22 µm and labelled.

# 3.6.2 Reviving Cell and Cell Inoculation

Supplemented 20% media was thawed to 37°C and was filled 1 mL into centrifuge tube. HCT116 cryovial was took out from -80°C and placed in the ice. The cryovial was gently swirled in 37°C water bath and the cell collected in the cryovial was transferred into the centrifuge tube with media. The centrifuge tube was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes and after that, the supernatant collected was discarded. 1 mL of the supplemented 20% media was then added into the cell pellet and mixed thoroughly. Another 9 mL of the supplemented 20% media was transferred into 75 cm<sup>2</sup> culture flask before the HCT116 cell obtained was transferred into the same culture flask.

# 3.6.3 Subculturing Cell Line

Subculturing the cell line was done in order to propagate so that the assay can be done on a few replicates. Firstly, the old media was discarded and 10 mL of Phosphate Buffer Saline (PBS) (Sigma, United States) was added into the flask for washing the previous media thoroughly and later it was discarded. Then, 3 to 5 mL of accutase (Sigma, United States) was filled into the flask and incubated in carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) incubator for 5 to 10 minutes. After it was took out, it was gently tapped to ensure the detachment of the cells and then was transferred into centrifuge tube. It was centrifuged at 1000 rpm for 5 minutes. 10 mL of supplemented 10% media was transferred into two new culture flask and one current flask each respectively. After centrifuged, the supernatant was slowly and carefully discarded and another 3 mL of media added into the tube and mixed thoroughly. The cell suspension was distributed 1 mL into each flask used. The first step of subculturing cell line was turning orange. After the old media and PBS were discarded, the media was transferred so that to provide sufficient nutrients for the cells.

#### 3.6.4 MTT Cell Proliferation Assay

#### Day 1: The Plating of Cells

A fully confluent culture was observed to be done the assay. Cell detachment was performed using accutase. 1 mL of supplemented 10% media was added into pellet containing the detached cells and it was mixed well. 90  $\mu$ L of tryphan blue was added and mixed well along with 10  $\mu$ L cell suspension. Then, 20  $\mu$ L of the obtained mixture was dropped on haemocytometer and was calculated its count cells using M<sub>1</sub>V<sub>1=</sub>M<sub>2</sub>V<sub>2</sub>. After the calculation, the supplemented 10% media (V<sub>2</sub>) was added into a sterile beaker with cell suspension (V<sub>1</sub>). 200  $\mu$ L of the cell suspension mixture obtained was transferred into each wells of the 96 well plates (Figure 3.5). Lastly it was incubated in the CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.

#### Day 2: Treatment on HCT116 Cells

Fresh and dried extracts of *L. nodiflora* went through the rotary evaporator (IKA) and the crystallized extracts were obtained. 0.02 g of the crystallized extracts of each samples were used in the producing the extract stock for HCT116 cells treatments.

DA: Supplemented 10% media + DMSO

DB: Supplemented 10% media

Extract Stock: Crude extract (0.02 g) + DB

Substock: 2 µL extract stock + 998 µL DB

Serial dilution was done with adding 150  $\mu$ L of DA into well B to G while 300  $\mu$ L of substock was added into well A. Then, 150  $\mu$ L of mixture in well A was aspirated till well G using multichannel micropipette. The last 150  $\mu$ L was discarded. The seeded plate from day 1 was taken from incubator then the old media was decanted. 100  $\mu$ L of supplemented

10% media was then transferred into each well. All the well from A to G was transferred accordingly 100  $\mu$ L from the substock to the seeded plate into each well and 100  $\mu$ L of DB was transferred into well H as control. The treated 96 well plate was then incubated in the CO<sub>2</sub> incubator.

#### Day 3: MTT Assay

Preparation of MTT had been done in dark room and any apparatus used was covered using aluminium foil. Firstly, 0.005 g formazan dyes (reduction of tetrazolium salt) MTT was added into 10 mL PBS in centrifuge tube and mixed well. The solution was filtered into reagent reservoir. 20  $\mu$ L of MTT reagent was added to each well including the controls and was kept incubated for 2 to 4 hours. After 4 hours, the plate was taken out and the old media was discarded. 100  $\mu$ L of dimethyl sulfoxide (DMSO) (Sigma, United States) was added into all well and left shaken for about 15 minutes. The plate was measured on 570 nm and 690 nm and the results was recorded.



Figure 3.5: 96 well plate A to H arrangement for MTT Assay.

The absorbance reading of the blank must be subtracted from all samples. Absorbance readings from test samples must then be divided by those of the control and multiplied by 100 to give percentage of inhibition (POI) (as shown in formula below). Absorbance values greater than the control indicate cell proliferation, while lower values suggest cell death or inhibition of proliferation. The half maximal inhibitory concentration (IC<sub>50</sub>) was determined from the graph of samples concentration versus POI.

# 3.7 Statistical Analysis

All the experiments were repeated three times and the data pertaining for all study was subjected to mean separation and standard errors were carried out. Analysis of variance (ANOVA) was performed to test if there were significant differences in callus induction, plant regeneration and root induction among the samples tested on MS media supplemented with single and combination PGRs, using Minitab statistical computer software version 17.0 (Minitab Inc., Pennsylvania, USA). Means were separated using Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test at a confidence level of 95% ( $p \le 0.05$ ). Correlation analysis was analyzed using SPSS Version 21.0 (IBM, USA) at a confidence level of 95% ( $p \le 0.05$ ) and 99% ( $p \le 0.01$ ).

#### **CHAPTER 4: RESULTS AND DISCUSSION**

#### 4.1 Introduction

This chapter includes discussion on the results based on four sub-studies done throughout this research work. First, the macro morphology and micromorphology of *Lippia nodiflora* will be discussed. Secondly, the tissue culture studies of callus induction and micropropagation will be discussed. Thirdly, the methanolic extraction of *L. nodiflora* and its major compounds were analysed by GC-MS analysis and tested for antimicrobial and antioxidant activities. The present research also analysed stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol compounds, using HPLC and HPTLC instruments. Lastly, the crude extracts of the plant are examined for its anticancer activities using MTT Assay on HCT116 Colon cancer cells.

# 4.2 Lippia nodiflora Identification

*Lippia nodiflora* had been identified by Dr. Sugumaran A/L Manickam from the University of Malaya herbarium (KLU). The herbarium voucher specimen (KLU47924) was deposited at University of Malaya Herbarium.

The collected plant and the plant maintained in greenhouse, IBS Garden exhibited different sizes. It was shown that the environmental condition; affect the plant growth even in the same climate condition. The soil condition at Taman Rimba Ampang was a mixture of peat soil and sand with a running river on the side. The collected plant was maintained in several pots filled with peat soil complemented with NPK fertilizer in a greenhouse. The soil condition and moisture of the environment based on water retention might be the factors affecting the plant development.

# 4.3 Morphology of *Lippia nodiflora*

# 

#### 4.3.1 Macro-morphology of Lippia nodiflora

**Figure 4.1:** *Lippia nodiflora* plant A. The leaf is in opposite arrangement B. Obovate shaped leaf C. Oblong shaped inflorescence D. The petal outer color is white while the inner color is either yellow or purple E. Capsule.

*L. nodiflora* has opposite leaf arrangement as shown in Figure 4.1A. The plant features slender branches, nodal roots, leaves are numerous and nearly without stalk. *L. nodiflora* is a creeping plant and because of this, it can be used as a replacement for ground covering grass. *L. nodiflora* is easily propagated from seeds and due to its property of sending out roots that shoots from the nodes (Dole, 2003). Figure 4.1B shows the leaf shape which is obovate and dentate on upper one third of the margin. The leaf of *L. nodiflora* may have three to seven teeth on each margin above the middle part, contradictory to *Phyla cuneifolia* which has one to two teeth while *Phyla lanceolata* has five to 11 teeth with

some extending to below margin (Robert, 2010). The leaf of L. nodiflora is thicker and smaller (Figure 4.1B) in Taman Rimba, Ampang which the size was 16 mm (10 to 25 mm) compared to the plants that was maintained in the greenhouse where the size was about 20 to 35 mm in length. Leaf size and thickness differed as the soil condition and nutrients varies. The morphology of L. nodiflora is almost similar to Phyla lanceolata but L. nodiflora has narrower leaf and it is wider in the middle part (Clarke, 2007). L. nodiflora has oblong spike and the collected L. nodiflora spike ranges from 5 to 10 mm long (Figure 4.1C) while Sujanapal and Sankaran (2016) recorded the size of 10 to 25 mm long and about 6 to 9 mm in diameter. The flower of L. nodiflora was shown in Figure 4.1D. The flower has four fused petals and its outer color is white while the inner color is either yellow or purple, with calvx that is membranous and bilobed. Corolla consists of a slender and cylindric tube, about 3 mm long, with a limb 2.50 mm wide, opening at the apex as it lengthens. Almost all flowers in Verbenaceae family are hermaphroditic which have both functional stamens and stigma, however insect pollination still can occur as a result of its nectar production, flower color and scent (Kadereit & Kubitzki, 2004).

Figure 4.1E showed the seed of *L. nodiflora*. The calyx or sepal is flattened, it is shorter than the bracts, hyaline-membranous layer, and deeply dissected with lanceolate lobes. Figure 4.1F showed the seed formation in which it is ovate- shaped, separating at maturity into two with one-seeded pyrenes (Roy & Shukla, 1992).

#### 4.3.2 Micromorphoology of *Lippia nodiflora*

# 4.3.2.1 Field Emission Scanning Electron Microscope of Leaf Surface of Lippia nodiflora

The micromorphology of the leaf surface of *Lippia nodiflora* is presented in Figure 4.2-4.4. Firstly, the plant surfaces that was observed on *L. nodiflora* showed epidermal cells with convex shape and covered with cuticular folds. The existence of epicuticular wax crystals or cuticular foldings on plant surfaces may influence the reduction of insect attachment (Prüm et al., 2012). Secondly, *L. nodiflora* leaves are amphistomatous where the stomata are present on adaxial and abaxial sides of leaf surfaces. It might be an adaptive measure of the plant to the environmental condition of tropical and subtropical countries. The leaves are characterized by diacytic stomata which are abundant on both adaxial and abaxial surfaces (Figure 4.2A and 4.2B). Diacytic stomata consist of a single ring of two cells enclosing the guard cells at right angles to the long axis of the guard cells.

The leaves of *L. nodiflora* possess simple unicellular trichomes which are densely distributed on the entire leaf, but denser on abaxial than the adaxial surface (Figure 4.3A and 4.3B). Within the abaxial surface, the trichomes are found more on the midrib compared to the edge of the leaf. The trichomes have rough surface and vary in length as shown in Figure 4.3C (175.4 $\mu$ m, 222.6 $\mu$ m and 376.7 $\mu$ m) and it is attached to the epidermal at the center of the trichomes (Figure 4.3D). The trichomes development from the epidermis is usually resulted from the degree of difference enlargement and subsequent divisions of the epidermal cells and their derivatives (Carlquist, 1958). The function of having abundance distribution of trichomes on the surface of the leaves is as a mechanism of defence against foraging insects and airborne propagules of fungi (Pendota et al., 2008) as well as to prevent water loss by trapping air over the stomata especially on abaxial surface (Naidoo et al., 2009). The correlation between trichomes

density over insect resistance were positively demonstrated in various plant species (Levin, 1973).

*L. nodiflora* was found to have essential oil (Shukla et al., 2009) in which oil glands were spotted throughout the leaf surfaces (Figure 4.4). The abaxial surface view shows the pore of an oil gland where the fragrance was emitted. The surfaces show different oil gland characteristics, adaxial surface shows smooth exterior (Figure 4.4A) while abaxial surface shows shrivel exterior with an opening (Figure 4.4B). Loughrim and Kasperbauer (2003) reported a distint aroma and flavor from herb leaf, where usually, the main source of aroma is usually the glandular epidermis of the petals, but the fragrant compounds can be emitted by stamens, nectaries and many other glands as well (Roshchina & Roshchina, 2012).



**Figure 4.2:** Stomata distribution in *Lippia nodiflora* A. Adaxial surface B. Abaxial surface C & D diacytic stomata from adaxial and abaxial surface, respectively.


**Figure 4.3:** Micromorphology of simple unicellular trichomes A. Adaxial surface B. Abaxial surface C. Simple unicellular trichomes D. Trichomes showing the middle part attached to the epidermal surface.



**Figure 4.4:** The oil gland on epidermis A. Oil gland structure from adaxial surface B. Oil gland near stomata on abaxial surface

#### 4.3.2.2 Leaf Epidermal Peel

A clear diacytic stomata can be seen under light microscope by staining using leaf epidermal peel method. Based on the test and FESEM, stomata were present on both abaxial and adaxial surfaces of the leaf of *L. nodiflora*. FESEM gave an actual image under 100 to 2000 times magnification (Figure 4.5). In this Figure, a guard cell with two subsidiary cells surrounding it can be seen clearly and the guard cell size can be estimated. Paracytic stomata also give two or more subsidiary cells surrounding it but parallel from the stomata while subsidiary cells on diacytic stomata is at the right angle of the stomata. Most of the guard cells sizes obtained are 130.00  $\mu$ m average in length during the opening of the guard cell, which compared from FESEM, it was an average of 13.6  $\mu$ m. This might be due to the efficiency of the microscope. An oil gland can also be seen in this figure, showing the oil gland surrounded by six subsidiary cells. The arrangement of stomata and oil gland of *L. nodiflora* was close to each other and abundant along the surface on adaxial and abaxial surfaces.

Stomata index obtained from data collection and calculation was 19.52% from abaxial surface and 19.86% on adaxial surface of the leaf. There were a small amount of different

in the stomata index where it can be suggested that the abundance of stomata was equivalent on both leaf surfaces.



Figure 4.5: Diacytic stomata under 100x magnification

#### 4.4 Tissue Culture Studies

#### 4.4.1 Surface Sterilization of *Lippia nodiflora*

*L. nodiflora* sterilization protocol was optimized with minor modifications from Ahmed et al. (2005). Two to three different sets of adjustment were done due to high contamination rate of 30- 40%. Similar chemicals were used to sterilize the intact plants with varying sterilising duration but the duration of time was tried and adjusted up until 80- 90% successful rate of callus induction and about 10% of contamination only. The source of come from the contamination may be used of unsterilized apparatus or humanerror.

#### 4.4.2 Callus Induction of *Lippia nodiflora*

*Lippia nodiflora* plant was tested with different auxin and cytokinin concentrations and in combinations. The most common callus obtained was green compact callus, followed by light green compact callus and a few white colored callus. Explants from both leaf and stem showed high percentage of response as recorded on the 21<sup>st</sup> day of inoculation, however, stem explants gave higher biomass and more compact callus. Table 4.1 shows nature of callus on *L. nodiflora* plant. As shown, it varied on the media supplemented with plant growth regulators NAA and 2,4-D, while in the presence of other PGRs, the callus was mainly green compact callus. Ahmed et al. (2011a, 2011b), reported the success of obtaining white watery callus, white friable callus, brown friable callus, green friable callus and green compact callus and also able to test the presence of somatic embryogenic callus. Figure 4.6 shows the callus that was obtained. Many varieties of callus can be seen on a single PGRs such as NAA and 2,4-D (Figure 4.6A- C). Other than these two PGRs, IAA, IBA, BA and KN and their combinations all gave green compact callus. The texture of the callus was rough and hard as shown in Figure 4.6D and E. Browning effect can occur as early as the second week to some friable callus. For instance, Figure 4.6F shows the third week of callus that was induced on MS media supplemented with 4.00 mg/L 2,4-D.

PGRs	Nature
Single	
NAA	Light green friable callus
	Light green compact callus
	Whitish greenish compact callus
2,4-D	Light green friable callus
	Light green compact callus
	Whitish greenish compact callus
IAA	
IBA	Green compact callus
BA	
KN	
Combination	
NAA + BA	
NAA + KN	
2,4-D + BA	
2,4-D + KN	Green compact callus
IAA + BA	
IAA + KN	
IBA + BA	
IBA + KN	

**Table 4.1:** *Lippia nodiflora* callus nature for single and combination plant growth regulators (PGRs)

Most callus can be classified into two categories namely friable and compact callus. The cells of compact callus are densely aggregated, whereas the cells of friable callus are loosely associated with each other. The friable callus are also soft and easily disintergrated. The friability of a callus can sometimes be improved by manipulating the media components or by subculturing (Slater & Wand-Fowler, 2003). Gürel et al. (2001) described two types of callus occurrence, the first type occurs regardless of the presence of auxins, green and compact callus will be produced in any medium containing high concentrations of BA (1.00 mg/L) alone or in combinations with auxins while secondly, whitish and friable callus normally be initiated through media containing 0.50 mg/L BA or 1.00 mg/L KN for various beets explants. In this study, starting from IAA and IBA for auxin, BA and KN for cytokinin, to any combination of auxin and cytokinin exhibits green compact callus. However, previous studies have suggested that the organogenic potential is related to callus structure. Large cells of white and friable callus produce more roots and shoots (Saunders & Daub, 1984; Konwar & Coutts, 1990; Shimamoto et al., 1993), while small cells of green and compact callus has less organogenic capacity (Ritchie et al., 1989; Tetu et al., 1987).



**Figure 4.6:** The nature of callus obtained induced from *Lippia nodiflora* on MS media supplemented with different plant growth regulators A. Light green friable callus - 1.00 mg/L NAA ( $2^{nd}$  week) B. Milky greenish compact callus - 4.00 mg/L NAA ( $2^{nd}$  week) C. Light green compact callus - 2.00 mg/L NAA ( $3^{rd}$  week) D. Green compact callus - 3.00 mg/L IAA ( $3^{rd}$  week) E. Green compact callus - 2.50 mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA ( $3^{rd}$  week) F. Browning effect on callus supplemented with 4.00 mg/L 2,4-D at 4<sup>th</sup> week.

According to Ahmed et al. (2011b), stem explants was able to obtain higher frequency of callus induction compared to shoot tips explants by 92% to 83% respectively. Similarly, stem explants induced higher percentage of callus compared to leaf explants as shown in Table 4.2 and 4.3 by 92.50% and 90% for single PGRs while 89.20% and 88.50% for combination of PGRs respectively. Also, shown in Table 4.2, MS media without PGRs, which acted as a control, was not able to produce callus, instead only shoot regeneration has been observed.

]	Plant Gr	owth R	egulator	s (PGR	Frequency of Callus Induction (%)		
	Au	xin		Cyto	okinin	T	C1
NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IBA	BA	KN	- Lear	Stem
-	-	-	-	-	-	$0.00{\pm}0.00^{h}$	$0.00\pm0.00^{d}$
0.50						$80.00\pm0.58$ fg	85.00±0.58 abc
1.00						$80.76 \pm 0.23^{efg}$	85.00±0.58 abc
1.50						85.00±0.58 bcdefg	88.33±0.92 abc
2.00						87.50±0.87 <sup>abc</sup>	86.67±0.83 abc
2.50						92.50±1.00 ª	85.83±0.49 abc
3.00						85.83±0.68 <sup>bcdef</sup>	87.50±0.86 <sup>abc</sup>
3.50						84.17±1.29 bcdefg	86.73±1.85 <sup>abc</sup>
4.00						79.23±1.03 <sup>g</sup>	85.83±0.69 <sup>abc</sup>
	0.50					86.67±1.84 abcde	85.00±0.98 abc
	1.00					84.17±1.28 bcdefg	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
	1.50					$81.67 \pm 0.83^{cdefg}$	87.50±0.87 <sup>abc</sup>
	2.00					85.00±0.98 bcdefg	85.83±0.68 <sup>abc</sup>
	2.50					83.33±1.23 bcdefg	88.33±0.92 abc
	3.00					84.17±0.88 bcdefg	85.83±0.83 <sup>abc</sup>
	3.50					84.17±1.29 bcdefg	88.33±0.92 <sup>abc</sup>
	4.00					85.83±0.49 <sup>bcdef</sup>	88.33±0.92 abc
		0.50				$80.00\pm0.58$ fg	83.33±1.23 abc
		1.00				85.79±0.69 <sup>bcdef</sup>	87.50±0.87 <sup>abc</sup>
		1.50				84.17±0.88 bcdefg	85.83±0.49 <sup>abc</sup>
		2.00				85.00±0.98 bcdefg	89.17±1.29 <sup>b</sup>
		2.50				$81.67 \pm 0.83^{cdefg}$	88.33±0.92 <sup>abc</sup>
		3.00				84.17±1.29 bcdefg	83.33±1.93 abc
		3.50				87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>	89.23±1.29 <sup>b</sup>
		4.00				$82.50 \pm 1.44$ <sup>cdefg</sup>	85.83±0.49 <sup>abc</sup>
			0.50			86.73±1.12 <sup>abcd</sup>	83.33±0.92 <sup>bc</sup>
· · ·			1.00			$82.50 \pm 1.44$ <sup>cdefg</sup>	89.23±1.29 <sup>b</sup>
			1.50			$81.67 \pm 0.95^{cdefg}$	84.17±0.88 <sup>abc</sup>
			2.00			83.33±1.93 bcdefg	82.50±1.44 °
			2.50			86.73±0.55 <sup>abcd</sup>	88.33±0.92 <sup>abc</sup>
			3.00			$81.67 \pm 0.83^{cdefg}$	85.00±0.98 <sup>abc</sup>
			3.50			85.00±0.58 <sup>bcdefg</sup>	83.33±1.93 <sup>bc</sup>
			4.00			89.17±0.43 ab	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
				1.00		$81.67 \pm 1.39^{cdefg}$	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
				2.00		84.17±0.88 bcdefg	90.00±1.15 <sup>a</sup>
				3.00		$84.17 \pm 0.88^{bcdefg}$	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
					1.00	$82.50 \pm 1.44^{cdefg}$	85.00±0.58 <sup>abc</sup>
					2.00	$81.67 \pm 0.95^{cdefg}$	84.17±0.88 abc
					3.00	80.83±1.01 defg	85.00±0.58 <sup>abc</sup>

**Table 4.2:** Frequency of callus induction (%) for single PGRs.

No.	Plant Growth Regulators (PGRs) (mg/L)			Frequency of Callus Induction (%)				
		Aux	an		Cyto	kinin	Leaf	Stem
	NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IBA	BĂ	KN		
1	2.00	,			1.00		80.80±0.40 <sup>abcdef</sup>	87.50±1.44 abc
2	2.50				1.00		76.30±2.76 <sup>ef</sup>	87.50±0.50 <sup>abc</sup>
3	3.00				1.00		81.70 ±2.11 <sup>abcdef</sup>	85.77±1.27 <sup>abc</sup>
4	2.00				2.00		$75.00 \pm 1.44^{f}$	80.00±1.15 °
5	2.50				2.00		80.00±0.58 abcdef	87.50±0.87 <sup>abc</sup>
6	3.00				2.00		76.30±1.40 <sup>ef</sup>	89.20±0.22 ª
7		2.00			1.00		77.50±1.44 <sup>cdef</sup>	80.00±0.58 °
8		2.50			1.00		85.00±0.20 <sup>abc</sup>	87.50±0.50 <sup>abc</sup>
9		3.00			1.00		80.00±0.58 abcdef	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
10		2.00			2.00		80.00±2.52 abcdef	88.33±2.20 <sup>ab</sup>
11		2.50			2.00		75.00±1.61 <sup>f</sup>	80.00±1.15 <sup>c</sup>
12		3.00			2.00		83.80±0.60 <sup>abcde</sup>	80.00±0.58 °
13			2.00		1.00		80.00±1.44 abcdef	88.33±2.20 <sup>ab</sup>
14			2.50		1.00		76.30±1.88 ef	88.30±0.80 <sup>ab</sup>
15			3.00		1.00		79.20±0.85 bcdef	$80.80 \pm 0.80$ bc
16			2.00		2.00		80.00±0.58 abcdef	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
17			2.50		2.00		80.00±1.44 abcdef	87.50±0.29 <sup>abc</sup>
18			3.00		2.00		80.00±1.84 abcdef	88.30±1.50 <sup>ab</sup>
19				2.00	1.00		77.50±1.29 <sup>cdef</sup>	87.50±0.50 <sup>abc</sup>
20				2.50	1.00		85.00±0.58 <sup>abc</sup>	89.20±0.80 <sup>a</sup>
21				3.00	1.00		77.50±0.60 <sup>cdef</sup>	85.77±1.27 <sup>abc</sup>
22				2.00	2.00		83.27±1.63 abcde	85.83±1.29 <sup>abc</sup>
23				2.50	2.00		85.0±0.88 abcd	88.33±2.20 <sup>ab</sup>
24				3.00	2.00		76.70±0.90 <sup>def</sup>	88.33±2.20 <sup>ab</sup>
25	2.00					1.00	83.30±1.68 abcde	89.20±0.75 <sup>a</sup>
26	2.50					1.00	82.50±0.40 abcdef	85.00±2.50 <sup>abc</sup>
27	3.00					1.00	86.70±0.85 <sup>ab</sup>	80.00±1.53 °
28	2.00					2.00	83.30±0.69 <sup>abcde</sup>	86.70±2.17 <sup>abc</sup>
29	2.50					2.00	78.30±1.94 cdef	86.67±1.09 <sup>abc</sup>
30	3.00					2.00	84.20±1.91 abcde	89.20±1.29 <sup>a</sup>
31		2.00				1.00	79.20±0.85 bcdef	87.50±1.44 <sup>abc</sup>
32		2.50				1.00	87.50±0.63 <sup>a</sup>	82.50±1.33 abc
33		3.00				1.00	80.00±0.58 abcdef	86.70±2.17 <sup>abc</sup>
34		2.00				2.00	77.50±1.73 <sup>cdef</sup>	80.00±1.53 °
35		2.50				2.00	79.20±0.85 bcdef	80.00±0.58 °
36		3.00				2.00	83.30±0.69 <sup>abcde</sup>	80.00±0.58 °
37			2.00			1.00	80.00±1.00 abcdef	88.50±1.60 <sup>ab</sup>
38			2.50			1.00	85.00±2.11 abc	87.50±0.64 <sup>abc</sup>
39			3.00			1.00	81.70±1.22 abcdef	86.70±2.17 <sup>abc</sup>
40			2.00			2.00	$80.00 \pm 0.58$ abcdef	85.83±1.29 <sup>abc</sup>
41			2.50			2.00	82.50±1.33 abcdef	80.00±1.00 °
42			3.00			2.00	81.70±1.22 abcdef	85.80±1.32 <sup>abc</sup>
43				2.00		1.00	79.20±0.80 <sup>bcdef</sup>	80.00±0.58 °
44				2.50		1.00	79.20±0.85 bcdef	$87.50 \pm 1.44^{\text{ abc}}$
45				3.00		1.00	78.30±2.75 bcdef	80.00±0.58°
46				2.00		2.00	79.20±0.85 bcdef	87.50±0.29 <sup>abc</sup>
47				2.50		2.00	$79.20 \pm 2.23^{bcdef}$	87.50±0.64 <sup>abc</sup>
48				3.00		2.00	78.30±2.86 <sup>cdef</sup>	85.77±1.27 <sup>abc</sup>

Stem explants also induced green compact callus, the characteristic was observed in nodular showing the cells are in big clumps that does not present on leaf explants. Callus induction explants were incised by similar length and width for leaf and length for stem however, the stem diameter should be constant too but there was slight differences between the stem explants collected from the greenhouse. This is due to the maturity of the plant collected, as mentioned earlier, *L. nodiflora* is a creeping plant so the continuity of the elongation of the plant not all can be observed. As the stem was acquired in the internodes, the apical meristems were used for shoot induction and usually left to propagate.

Based on Figure 4.7, even though some callus induced with MS media supplemented with auxin may gave leaf explants a better results, overall results showed that stem explants has higher biomass. Data was examined based on Figure 4.8- 4.11. On each leaf and stem explants that has been placed on PGRs supplemented media, they had length around 1.00 to 1.50 cm and were all injured around four to five times. Some variables were ensured to be constant so that the results obtained can be applicable. The function of giving injured to the explants was because callus can be formed from the results of wounding where a callus consists of an amorphous mass of loosely arranged of thin-walled parenchyma cells arising from the proliferating cells of the parent tissue (Dodds & Roberts, 1987). Figure 4.7 shows callus obtained from third week of inoculation, where there were huge differences between the nature of explants on different plant growth regulators and also leaf and stem explants biomass.

The MS media consistency also plays a huge role for nutrients transmission, usually the media will be put on pH 5.7 to 5.8 and the quantity of agar used was 7 g for 1 L of media instead of 8 g from the MS media guidelines. The reason is to make the agar softer, that the explants were able to consume the nutrients 100% before subculturing was done.



**Figure 4.7:** The differences of nature and biomass between leaf and stem explants of *Lippia nodiflora* on MS media supplemented with different plant growth regulators at the third week of induction A & B. Leaf and stem of 1.00 mg/L IAA C & D. Leaf and stem of 1.00 mg/L NAA E & F. Leaf and stem of 2.50 mg/L IBA+1.00 mg/L BA.

Ahmed et al. (2011b) recorded brown callus on *L. nodiflora* callus. Gupta et al. (2001) and JibinaBai et al. (2014) reported *Lippia alba* (Verbenaceae) induced brown callus in the second week of inoculation. Table 4.4 shows the browning effect that has occurred during the callus induction on *L. nodiflora* which was as early as second week onwards for single PGRs and third week onwards for combination PGRs. On the first week, the callus on stem explants that was seen on MS media supplemented with 2.00 mg/L NAA is light green friable callus however, when it reached the second week the callus has started to be colored in brown similarly reported by Hussain et al. (2013) on a different species.

Duration	Single PGRs MS media + 2.00 mg/L NAA	Combination PGRs MS media + 2.00 mg/L IAA + 2.00 mg/L KN	Notes
Week 1			Callus was induced.
Week 2		Real P	Browning of <i>L. nodiflora</i> callus started at the 2 <sup>nd</sup> week can be seen clear on single PGRs.
Week 3			Browning of <i>L. nodiflora</i> callus started at the 3 <sup>rd</sup> week but very low and not really visible on combination PGRs.
Week 4			Single PGRs browning effect has increased and biomass has started to decline.
Week 5			Combination PGRs browning effect has been more visible.

 Table 4.4: Browning effect on L. nodiflora callus induction.

Oxidation of polyphenols and formation of quinones results in browning of explants tissue and tissue culture media are highly reactive and toxic to the tissues. The inhibitory effect may be resulted from the bonding of phenols with protein and their subsequent oxidations to the quinones (Raj Bhansali & Singh 1982; Jain 2000). Previous research was done to minimize browning effect such as pre-soaking explants in ascorbic acid and citric acid prior to the sterilization method (Murashige, 1974). In recent studies of Naz and Khatoon (2014), to overcome the problem of callus browning which was investigated on *Achyranthes aspera*, 0.20% charcoal was used on 2.00 mg/L 2,4-D but the problem was not solved and also higher sucrose level was tested but resulted in decrease of callus fresh weight as the sucrose concentration was increased from 3% to 6% and 9%.

In present study, the combination of auxin and cytokinin were examined to enhance biomass furthermore at the same time, it have found to decrease the browning effect that was occurring throughout the experiments on single PGRs especially on NAA and 2,4-D which can be seen on Table 4.4, combination PGRs with the example of 2.00 mg/L IAA + 2.00 mg/L KN. From the Table, we can differentiate the duration that had occurred and also the ratio of browning effect on single PGRs and combination PGRs. At week 4, the callus induced on 2.00 mg/L NAA has started to decline significantly though for 2.00 mg/L IAA + 2.00 mg/L KN, from week 5 onwards the declining phase slowly took place.

#### 4.4.3 *In vitro* callus growth curve

The results showed callus induction was successful with all the PGRs treated. Data was analyzed in the third week from induction where the highest biomass and best nature (as shown in Figure 4.8- 4.11) obtained for single PGRs were 2.50 mg/L NAA (118.60 mg/L) with light green friable callus for auxins and next, 1.00 mg/L BA (42.70 mg/L) with green compact callus for cytokinin while as for combination PGRs were 3.00 mg/L NAA + 2.00 mg/L KN (165 mg/L) with green compact callus and 2.50 mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA (139.60 mg/L) with green compact callus.

All of the graphs on *in vitro* growth curve of *L. nodiflora* (including other single and combination PGRs that was not shown) were mostly sigmoid type and can be identified through four phases based on the duration of the callus fresh and dry weight that was collected and recorded (7, 14, 21 and 28 days). The *in vitro* growth curve graphs showed that the optimum biomass were observed at 3<sup>rd</sup> week for single PGRs and 3<sup>rd</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> week for combination PGRs. Firstly, for single PGRs the lag phase can be identified at 7-14 days, Leticia et al. (2010) reported that this is the phase where callus was induced and proliferated as observed by profound cell division. Secondly, the second phase which is the exponential phase was detected at 14-18 days of inoculation while the stationary phase of the callus induction was at 18- 25 days. Even though it was exponentially increasing in biomass, the browning effect had occur early and causing early declined phase at the 25 days onwards. It took place due to the inability to replace new callus with the dead callus. As for combination PGRs, the lag phase was also identified at 7-14 days with an exponential growth at about 14-22 days. The stationary phase took place on the 22- 30 days of inoculation. On day 31 onwards, the declined phase had occur. However, the callus that was inoculated on MS media supplemented with combination PGRs had browning only on the third week but in small amount. Ahmed (2011b) was able to sustain the callus duration at 55 days which may be due to different environment such culture condition, temperature, light intensity and others. The highest biomass results on the stationary phase were mass produced so that further analysis can be done through extraction to undergo TLC, GC- MS, HPTLC and HPLC analysis.

However, the maturity of the callus also plays a part to determine the presence of desired compounds as it may take longer duration to be produced nevertheless for it to be accumulated. It does not mean that the highest biomass is considered as the best time to be collected and performed as mentioned analysis previously but this investigation is required to examine the life span of the callus. So, the callus at third and fourth week were collected and subcultured into a new MS media supplemented with similar plant growth regulators. Then, the subcultured callus was examined with TLC analysis to check the presence of desired compounds and the process had gone towards four times. Mass production for all L. nodiflora callus was also done with the same method. The function of mass production of L. nodiflora callus was to increase yield to be collected to perform extraction so that the chances of gaining high amount of desired compounds would be increased as the concentration of extraction was also increased. Then, the high concentration of desired compounds inside the extraction leads to visible results obtained. However, the concentration of the extracts can be adjusted with the ratio used to either a more concentrated extracts or a more diluted extracts. As for GC- MS, a serial dilutions of L. nodiflora extracts were recommended as it is a very sensitive instrument and also the function is to identify the possible compounds. As for HPLC, a more concentrated extracts was used because of the identification, confirmation and quantification of the desired compounds.



**Figure 4.8:** Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Leaf Explants of *Lippia nodiflora* Callus on MS media with NAA Treatments.



**Figure 4.9:** Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of *Lippia nodiflora* Callus on MS media with BA Treatments.



**Figure 4.10:** Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of *Lippia nodiflora* Callus on MS media with IBA + BA & KN Treatments.



**Figure 4.11:** Fresh Weight (g/L) and Dry Weight (mg/L) for Stem Explants of *Lippia nodiflora* Callus on MS media with NAA + BA & KN Treatments.

#### 4.4.4 Plant Regeneration on *Lippia nodiflora*

The percentage of plant regeneration was very low in selected concentrations on single and combination PGRS, Table 4.5 showed the average of PGRs concentrations except BA and KN as each concentrations gave out good response. Figure 4.12 shows shoot regeneration on stem explants that was inoculated vertically on MS media supplemented with PGRs and control. Based on the experiment, MS media without PGRs (MSO) was used as control and any explants that were inoculated has been successfully regenerated as seen in Figure 4.12A and B with highest percentage of 90% from other treatments as shown in Table 4.5. Explants that were inoculated on MS media supplemented with auxin especially NAA and 2,4-D induced more callus than the plant regeneration itself. Even if it was successful, the regenerated plant was stunted at the induction of callus and resulted for short length of the plant. This might be due to the division of nutrients absorption by proliferation of callus and elongation of shoots. PGRs IAA and IBA on the other hand, gave positive responsive of plant regeneration inclusive of a few roots along with minimal shoots and the length. However, some of it reached 4 cm onwards that it was able to be acclimatized. PGRs cytokinin BA and KN were more responsive than auxins where from each of the concentrations tested, more than one over four responded unlike auxins especially 2,4-D, minimal response from one batch was about one over eight. So, for auxins were the compilation results of all tested concentrations. As the control had given high response and high in length of shoots, it might be suitable for *in vitro* propagation however, 2.00 mg/L KN gave highest shoot number recorded with five shoots but with no consistency. In average, plant regeneration on MS media supplemented with combination PGRs IAA + BA gave the highest shoot numbers with 2.70 with mostly three to five shoots per explants with a minimum of one shoot per explants.



**Figure 4.12:** Shoot regeneration of stem on MS media supplemented with plant growth regulators (PGRs) and control. A & B. Control C. MS media supplemented with 2.00 mg/L BA D. 2.00 mg/L KN E. 2.50 mg/L IAA F. 2.50 mg/L IBA.

Ahmed et al. (2005) reported that the axillary nodal explants used inoculated in MS media supplemented with cytokinin promoted shoot buds initiation and BA (2.50 mg/L) was proven to be most efficient with 6 cm in length and high number of shoots with mean of 12.50 shoots per node. The *L. nodiflora* nodes were able to give good response too with combination PGRs of 2.00 mg/L BA + 2.50 mg/L IBA with mean 8.70 shoots per node. Comparing with this study, two to three out of ten regenerated shoots had one responsive shoots while highest was five shoots. This however, may resulted low mean number in total as shown on Table 4.5. Priya and Ravindhran (2011) also had successfully micropropagate *L. nodiflora* and it was found that the most efficient media was MS media supplemented with 3.00 mg/L BA (mean 10.50 shoots per node) where it was mentioned shoot multiplication was induced better with PGRs BA than KN which produce less shoots.

Plan	t Grow	th Reg	ulator	rs (PG	Rs)	Response (%)	No. of Shoots	Length of
NAA	2,4-D	IAA	IB A	BA	KN	-		Shoots (cm)
-	-	-	-	-	-	90.00±2.89 <sup>a</sup>	$1.00 \pm 0.00^{d}$	6.40±0.45 <sup>a</sup>
						18.00±3.63 <sup>ef</sup>	1.20±0.13 <sup>cd</sup>	$0.50{\pm}0.08^{e}$
						$8.00 \pm 3.00^{f}$	$1.10\pm0.10^{d}$	$0.40 \pm 0.04^{e}$
		$\checkmark$				38.83±4.33 <sup>cde</sup>	$1.70 \pm 0.20^{abcd}$	$2.90 \pm 0.26^{d}$
						33.33±4.33 <sup>def</sup>	$1.60 \pm 0.15^{abcd}$	3.33±0.15 <sup>cd</sup>
				1		63.67±6.82 <sup>abc</sup>	$2.00\pm0.20^{abcd}$	$2.60 \pm 0.22^{d}$
				2		$73.33 \pm 4.64^{ab}$	$2.33 \pm 0.38^{abc}$	3.33±0.35 <sup>cd</sup>
				3		73.33±6.29 <sup>ab</sup>	$1.90 \pm 0.26^{abcd}$	4.60±0.19 <sup>b</sup>
					1	60.00±1.44 <sup>bcd</sup>	$1.40 \pm 0.15^{bcd}$	4.33±0.19bc
					2	62.00±0.83 <sup>abc</sup>	$1.80 \pm 0.19^{abcd}$	$2.80 \pm 0.33^{d}$
					3	68.00±3.00 <sup>ab</sup>	$1.90 \pm 0.26^{abcd}$	$2.90 \pm 0.35^{d}$
						$78.00 \pm 0.83^{ab}$	$2.70\pm0.14^{a}$	$3.50 \pm 0.13^{bcd}$
						71.00±4.41 <sup>ab</sup>	2.00±0.24 <sup>abcd</sup>	3.70±0.15 <sup>bcd</sup>
						79.00±2.20 <sup>ab</sup>	2.50±0.29 <sup>ab</sup>	$3.60 \pm 0.32^{bcd}$
						76.67+2.20 <sup>ab</sup>	$2.10\pm0.26^{abcd}$	$3.30\pm0.11^{cd}$

Table 4.5: Shoot regeneration of stem explants of Lippia nodiflora.

 $\sqrt{}$  indicates all the selected concentration of each single and combination PGRs (refer to Table 3.3). Means  $\pm$  SE indicated with the same letter were not significantly different (HSD Tukey test: P<0.05)

Based on Figure 4.13, shoot regeneration with combination PGRs was successful. However, the length of the shoots was only about 3 to 5 cm long. This might be due to the interruption of callus proliferation as seen on the Figure 4.13. Figure 4.13B was recorded at week 6 where the stem that was initially planted vertically had fallen and dead but the shoot was there and it did not grow much. Callus that was induced together with shoot regeneration causing inhibition or slowing down the growth of the regenerated shoots. Figure 4.13D shows the shoot regenerated from callus induction replicates, proves that any favorable condition of the plant to be generated can be occurred as long as the parts of the nodes was present.



**Figure 4.13:** Shoot regeneration of *L. nodiflora* on MS media supplemented with combination PGRs A. 2.00 mg/L IBA + 2.00 mg/L KN B. 2.50 mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA C. 2.00 mg/L IAA + 1.00 mg/L KN D. 2.00 mg/L IAA + 1.00 mg/L BA.

#### 4.4.5 Root Induction and Acclimatization

Regenerated plantlets from stem explants inoculated in MS media without PGRs (control) were able to produce roots aside from shoot regeneration. Shoot regeneration plantletfrom single and combination of auxin and cytokinin with differential lengths (3-8 cm) were cut and transferred to MS media supplemented with 2,4-D, IAA, IBA and NAA with different concentrations (1.00, 2.00 and 3.00 mg/L) as root induction was observed and recorded.

Table 4.6 shows that MS media supplemented with 3.00 mg/L IAA had most responsive number of roots  $(4.00 \pm 0.33 \text{ roots})$  with maximum of eight roots per plantlet and the distribution of all three concentrations were similar. There were no root induction that has occurred on MS media supplemented with 2,4-D and NAA (concentration 1.00, 2.00 and 3.00 mg/L respectively for all PGRs tested) but only to observe the callus were forming at the end of the plantlet on the cut surface area. Roots of *L. nodiflora* were present on most of its nodes with at least one long root (Figure 4.14A) or two short roots minimum and can be up to 5- 8 roots per nodes but can be really high in number on its *in vivo* plant's main root. *L. nodiflora* was mentioned as a creeping plant where developing roots on its nodes is essential to give good nutrient supply to its elongating stems and leaves.

Plant growth regulators (PGRs) IAA	Number of roots
<b>IBA Concentration</b>	
(mg/L)	
IAA	
1.00	$3.10 \pm 0.18^{b}$
2.00	3.30±0.15 <sup>ab</sup>
3.00	$4.00\pm0.33^{a}$
IBA	
1.00	$3.00 \pm 0.21^{b}$
2.00	3.30±0.21 <sup>ab</sup>
3.00	$3.70 \pm 0.26^{ab}$

**Table 4.6:** Observation of root induction on *Lippia nodiflora* regenerated shoot.

Values are mean of 10 replicates per treatment and repeated thrice. Means  $\pm$  SE indicated with the same letter were not significantly different (HSD Tukey test: P<0.05).

As can be seen on Figure 4.14, *L. nodiflora* plantlets that was obtained after the root induction and also its control has been acclimatized in tissue culture room  $25 \pm 2^{\circ}$ C under 16/8 h photoperiod. Then, the hardened plantlets were successfully acclimatized to the natural environment. About 90% of the plantlets has survived in the garden soil and on the 30<sup>th</sup> day of acclimatization (Figure 4.14C), *L. nodiflora* has elongated and propagated in the small pot where then they were transferred into a longer square pot (24" × 6"). The

plantlets were compared with the existing plants that was already maintained on the long pot and shows not much different. They were watered regularly and keep on growing.



**Figure 4.14:** Hardening of *L. nodiflora* and its acclimatization A & B Roots formation on regenerated shoots of *L. nodiflora* C *L. nodiflora* plant has propagate and increased in number after 30 days acclimatization.

4.5 Phytochemical studies on leaf and stem of intact plants and *in vitro* callus

4.5.1 Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) Analysis on Leaf, Stem and Callus

### Explants of Lippia nodiflora

The TLC plate of *L. nodiflora* extracts on Figure 4.15A was visualized under UV lamp (365 nm) and two of the spots gave fluorescence characteristics and their  $R_f$  values were comparable to respective standard compound (stigmasterol-  $R_f 0.83$ ;  $\beta$ - sitosterol-  $R_f$  0.90) based on Sharma et al. (2011). Both of the standard emitted greyish pink band under

white light as labelled in Figure 4.15B after sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid. Table 4.7 shows that the possibility of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ - sitosterol were present in stem extracts (R<sub>f</sub> value 0.84; 0.92 respectively) while only stigmasterol for leaf extracts (R<sub>f</sub> value 0.82).

Figure 4.16 shows TLC plate using mobile phase hexane: acetone (3:1). Table 4.8 shows that the possibility of  $\beta$ -sitosterol and lupeol present on leaf extracts ( $R_f$  value 0.56, 0.71 respectively) and callus extracts ( $R_f$  value 0.57, 0.73 respectively), while  $\beta$ -sitosterol, stigmasterol and lupeol present on stem extracts ( $R_f$  value 0.56, 0.64 and 0.71 respectively). The mobile phase and methods of the experiment were done based on Sandhya et al. (2012) which the  $R_f$  value for standard compounds are 0.60 for  $\beta$ - sitosterol, 0.62 for stigmasterol and 0.71 for lupeol. Stigmasterol was observed only in stem extracts while both desired compounds were found using hexane: acetone with ratio 4:1. However, lupeol was also discovered based on the  $R_f$  value recorded by Sandhya et al. (2012).

A few methods were done to view the separation process of desired compounds. However, these two methods from Sharma et al. (2011) and Sandhya et al. (2012) were able to separate the bands clearly and also to view similarity of bands desired  $R_f$  value. Both methods were run for one hour on 10 x 20 cm TLC plate (Merck, Germany), although the different was only the ratio of hexane, the end of the solution was quite a different due to the polarity of the mobile phase that was prepared which resulted a totally different  $R_f$  values for stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol. A smaller economical width size of TLC plate were used during optimatization.

However, if the bands or spots identified to be stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol, where it was labelled in Figure 4.16B, lane one, two and three stands for leaf and stem explants of *L. nodiflora* respectively, while lane four and five representing stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol respectively and lastly lane six and seven stands for callus initiated from stem explants in MS media supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA + 2.00 mg/L KN and 2.50

mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA respectively. In this Figure, the R<sub>f</sub> value for stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol was 0.56 (mobile phase hexane: acetone, 4:1), where similarly to lane two, four, five and six which had spots at the same R<sub>f</sub> value. So, based on this statement can be concluded that there were high possibility that stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol were present in leaf and callus of *L. nodiflora*.



#### Steroids

**Figure 4.15:** Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts with mobile phase hexane: acetone (4: 1) A. TLC plate viewed under 365 nm UV lamp B. TLC plate viewed under white light after sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in ethanol.

**Table 4.7:** R<sub>f</sub> value readings for leaf, stem and callus extracts of *L. nodiflora* on thin layer chromatography with hexane: acetone (4:1) mobile phase.

Leaf extr	acts	Stem extr	acts	Callus extract		
Distance (cm)	<b>R</b> <sub>f</sub> value	Distance (cm)	<b>R</b> <sub>f</sub> value	Distance (cm)	R <sub>f</sub> value	
6.40	0.37	2.50	0.16	5.70	0.53	
9.10	0.52	5.30	0.34	7.10	0.66	
10.30	0.59	5.90	0.38	8.00	0.75	
10.60	0.61	13.20	0.84			
12.70	0.73	14.40	0.92			
14.40	0.82	14.90	0.96			

L – Leaf extracts S – Stem extracts; St – Stigmasterol;  $\beta$  -  $\beta$  sitosterol; C – Callus extracts



L-Leaf extracts; S-Stem extracts; C-Callus extracts; numbers referred to replicates

**Figure 4.16:** Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts with mobile phase hexane: acetone (3: 1) A. TLC plate viewed under 365 nm UV lamp B. TLC plate viewed under white light after sprayed with 10% Sulphuric acid,  $H_2SO_4$  in ethanol.

Leaf extr	acts	Stem extr	acts	Callus extract		
Distance (cm)	<b>R</b> <sub>f</sub> value	Distance (cm)	<b>R</b> <sub>f</sub> value	Distance (cm)	<b>R</b> <sub>f</sub> value	
4.40	0.36	4.40	0.36	8.00	0.57	
5.70	0.47	5.70	0.47	10.20	0.73	
6.80	0.56	6.80	0.56	11.80	0.84	
8.50	0.71	7.70	0.64			
9.80	0.80	8.50	0.71			
10.60	0.87	9.80	0.80			
12.00	0.98	10.60	0.87			
		12.00	0.98			

**Table 4.8:** R<sub>f</sub> value readings for leaf, stem and callus extracts of *L. nodiflora* on thin layer chromatography with hexane: acetone (3: 1) mobile phase.

L – Leaf extracts S – Stem extracts; St – Stigmasterol;  $\beta$  -  $\beta$  sitosterol; C – Callus extracts

On the other hand, leaf and stem extracts separated bands can be seen only under purple UV light (365 nm) while for callus extracts can only be seen under white light after 10% sulphuric acid was sprayed and heated as shown in Figure 4.17. All TLC plates were also observed under green UV light (254 nm) however, no bands or spots were observed.

Based on Figure 4.17A, lane 1 and 4 were  $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol standard compounds respectively, which was also shown on figure 4.17B on lane 4 and 5. The experiment was repeated several times but, the two standard compounds cannot be seen under both green and purple UV light (254 and 365 nm respectively) conversely for TLC plate that was sprayed using 10% sulphuric acid, a greyish pink spot was identified similarly reported by Sandhya et al. (2012) but do not possess the same R<sub>f</sub> value.



C - Callus extracts; numbers referred to replicates

**Figure 4.17:** Thin Layer Chromatography for leaf, stem and callus extracts A. TLC plate viewed under 365 nm UV lamp using mobile phase hexane: acetone (3: 1) B. TLC plate for leaf, stem and callus extracts viewed under white light after sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid,  $H_2SO_4$  in ethanol.

Other than investigating on mobile phase and methods of observations, three protocols of extractions were done to ensure which protocol gave the best results so that it can be proceeded with other analysis. Firstly, boiling of *L. nodiflora* in water; secondly, maceration of *L. nodiflora* in water, methanol and ethanol; and thirdly, methanolic extraction of *L. nodiflora* using soxhlet apparatus (percolation technique). Upon all three protocols, the results obtained for boiling in water on TLC plate was there were no bands

or spot observed or identified. The method percolation of water resulted in no bands or spot observed or identified, while percolation on methanol and ethanol, there were a few visible bands or spots that observed and identified. As for extraction using soxhlet apparatus, there were a few visible bands or spots observed and identified. The extraction of *L. nodiflora* using soxhlet apparatus gave the highest number and clear bands or spots.

## 4.5.2 Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrophotometer Analysis on *Lippia nodiflora* Leaf and Stem Explants

GC-MS is the best technique for bioactive compound identification of long chain hydrocarbons, alcohols, acids, esters, alkaloids, steroids, amino acid and nitro compounds (Muthulakshmi et al., 2012). Essential oil extracted from L. nodiflora was reported by Calvache et al. (2010) to contain eight major compounds classified as monoterpenes, sesquiterpenes and a saturated hydrocarbon. In the present study, 15 compounds have been identified from methanol extracts from leaf and stem explants of L. nodiflora. identified hexylresorcinol Among the compounds, has anaesthetic, antiseptic and anthelmintic properties (Wilson et al., 1966) while tetradecanoic acid has the property of antioxidant, 5-alpha-reductase inhibitor, antifibrinolytic, hemolytic and antimicrobial activities (Rosemeyer & Bodoprost, 2007; Abirami & Rajendran, 2011; Kala et al., 2011). Stearic acid contributes the highest percentage of compound found in the leaf extract, which is an inactive ingredients, a saturated, wax-like, fatty acid commonly used in the production of pharmaceutical tablets and capsules. Stearic acid functions as emulsifying agent, solubilizing agent, tablet and capsule lubricant in pharmaceutical industry. It is commonly found in lotions, detergents, soaps, and shampoos, and is a natural component of cocoa butter and shea butter. Based on Habib et al. (1987), stearic acid (octadeconoic acid) was found to inhibit tumor development. Esters were also present in the extracts and are important organic compounds with increasing number of commercial applications (Foresti et al., 2005).

These compounds are largely used in fragrances, cosmetics detergents, flavors and pharmaceuticals. Due to the presence of above mentioned compounds in the leaf and stem methanolic extracts of *Lippia nodiflora*, it has potential usage in various pharmaceutical and industrial applications.



Figure 4.18: GC-MS chromatogram for leaf explants methanolic extract of L. nodiflora.

No	DT	Name of Compound	Molocular	Molocular	Dool
10.	KI (	Name of Compound	Molecular	Willecular	гсак
	(min)		Formula	Weight	Area %
1	25.901	3H-Cyclopenta[c]pyridazin-3-one,	$C_7H_8N_2O$	136	0.85
		2,5,6,7-tetrahydro			
2	29.738	6-Fluoro-2-trifluoromethylbenzoic acid,	$C_{14}H_7F_5O_2$	302	0.68
		3-fluorophenyl ester			
3	35.324	Hexylresorcinol	$C_{12}H_{18}O_2$	194	0.66
4	45.714	6-Octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, propanoate	$C_{13}H_{24}O_2$	212	2.44
5	54.613	Tetradecanoic acid	$C_{14}H_{28}O_2$	228	1.66
6	55.351	Stearic acid	$C_{18}H_{36}O_2$	284	93.45
7	55.725	Isoamyl nitrite	$C_5H_{11}NO_2$	117	0.15
8	56.192	1,3-Dioxolane, 2-(3-bromo-3-buten-1-yl)-	$C_7H_{11}BrO_2$	206	0.12
	RT= Rete	ntion Time			

Table 4.9: GCMS analysis of methanolic extract of *L. nodiflora* leaf explants.

**Table 4.10:** Molecular structure of compounds found from GCMS analysis of L.nodiflora leaf explants.

No.	Name of Compound	Molecular Structure
1	3H-Cyclopenta[c]pyridazin-3-one, 2,5,6,7-tetrahydro	NH NH
2	6-Fluoro-2-trifluoromethylbenzoic acid, 3-fluorophenyl ester	
3	Hexylresorcinol	ОН
4	6-Octen-1-ol, 3,7-dimethyl-, propanoate	HO
5	Tridecanoic acid,	H O
6	Stearic acid	ОН
7	Isoamyl nitrite	N N
8	1,3-Dioxolane, 2-(3-bromo-3- buten-1-yl)-	Br O



Figure 4.19: GC-MS chromatogram for stem explants methanolic extract of *L. nodiflora*.

Table 4.11: GCMS analysis of methanolic extract of *L. nodiflora* stem explants.

No.	RT (min)	Name of Compound	Molecular	Molecular	Peak
			Formula	Weight	Area %
1	25.918	2-Methyl-3(2-furyl)acrolein	$C_8H_8O_2$	136	5.69
2	27.432	6H-Purin-6-one, 9betaD-	$C_{10}H_{12}N_4O_5$	268	1.97
		arabinofuranosyl-1,9-dihydro-			
3	28.015	2,5-Cyclohexadiene-1,4-dione,	$C_8H_8O_2$	136	8.33
		2,3-dimethyl-			
4	35.371	Octopamine	$C_8H_{11}NO_2$	153	1.41
5	45.711	Butanoic acid	$C_{12}H_{22}O_2$	198	0.46
6	55.368	Behenic acid	$C_{22}H_{44}O$	340	80.17
7	57.129	N-Phthaloyltyramine	$C_{16}H_{13}NO_3$	267	1.97

No.	Name of Compound	Molecular Structure
1	2-Methyl-3(2-furyl) acrolein	0
2	6H-Purin-6-one, 9betaD-	
	arabinofuranosyl-1,9-dihydro-	
3	2,5-Cyclohexadiene-1,4-dione, 2,3-	X
	dimethyl-	
4	Octopamine	HO NH2 OH
5	Butanoic acid	ОН
6	Behenic acid	m Lannar
7	N-Phthaloyltyramine	HO

**Table 4.12:** Molecular structure of compounds found from GCMS analysis of L.nodiflora stem explants.

# 4.5.3 High Performance Thin Layer Chromatography (HPTLC) Analysis on Leaf, Stem and Callus of *Lippia nodiflora* explants

High performance thin layer chromatography (HPTLC) analysis has been examined, the automated calculation of  $R_f$  value were 0.46 and 0.45 for stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol respectively. The method used was adopted from Kamboj and Saluja (2013), the Rf value reported for stigmasterol compound was 0.45 which was 0.01 deviated from R<sub>f</sub> value obtained. However, it may differ due to extraction process that was slightly not similar or any other handling error. Supposedly HPTLC is a continuation from TLC that has been done, in which it means the TLC was a point in the determination of which mobile phase should be used. The mobile phase has been investigated through the polarity of solvent to improve the separation of the two compounds bands. Chemical solvents and TLC plate characteristics determine the ratio is by polarity. As the silica gel plate is very high in polarity, polar compounds will tend to stick more to the plate, and will move more slowly. Lower polarity compounds will tend to dissolve in the solvent, and will move faster. If two different samples run the same height on a plate, this is good evidence that they are the same compound. If they move differently, they are different. The polarity of the solvent used to carry the spots up the plate will also affect the distance the spots travel. A more polar solvent will be able to compete with the silica gel on the plate, and all spots will be carried correspondingly higher than they would with a less polar solvent. So, after a few trials and adjusts that has been done, the mobile phase used which was chloroform: ethanol (98:2) that had gave the best definitions of bands and its fluorescence. Other than that, the trials and adjusts were mainly to try separating the two steroids desired which are stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol. Based from Sharma et al. (2011) and Sandhya et al. (2012), both had a near  $R_f$  value for stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol. In spite of this, the only difference between stigmasterol (C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O, 412.69 g/mol) and β-sitosterol (C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>50</sub>O, 414.71 g/mol) is the presence of double bond  $C_{22}=C_{23}$  in stigmasterol and single bond  $C_{22}$ - $C_{23}$  in  $\beta$ -sitosterol hence, the lack of practical difference in their  $R_f$  despite the use of several solvent systems (Kamboj & Saloja, 2010).

From the HPTLC analysis that has been done based on the extracts shown on Table 4.13, the  $R_f$  values were compared and we can conclude that most likely sample of lane 3, 4, 6, 7, 10 and 11 consist of the desired steroid compounds. However, for lane 1, 2 and 5, there were no band showing on  $R_f$  0.45 and  $R_f$  0.46 which we might conclude that the steroid compounds might be absence in these samples. The leaf extracts sample of *Lippia nodiflora* have similar profile (Lane 7 & 11), where it has a significant red band occur at  $R_f$  0.72, whereas this red band is absence in all the other stems samples and the non-fresh leaf samples as shown on figure 4.21.

Lane	Sample	Application Volume (µL)
1	Stem callus (3.00 mg/L NAA)	5
2	Leaf callus (3.00 mg/L NAA)	5
3	Stem callus $(3.00 \text{ mg/L NAA} + 2 \text{ mg/L KN})$	5
4	Leaf callus (3.00 mg/L NAA + 2 mg/L KN)	5
5	Stem callus (2.50 mg/L IBA + 1 mg/L BA)	5
6	Leaf callus (2.50 mg/L IBA + 1 mg/L BA)	5
7	Leaf explants 1	5
8	Stigmasterol 200 ppm	4
9	β-sitosterol 100 ppm	15
10	Stem explants	5
11	Leaf explants 2	5

**Table 4.13:** Sample Application Pattern of L. nodiflora for HPTLC.

\*All callus were inoculated in MS media supplemented with PGRs mentioned


**Figure 4.20:** HPTLC analysis for *L. nodiflora* extracts with stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol standard at 254 nm.



**Figure 4.21:** HPTLC analysis for *L. nodiflora* extracts with stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol standard at 365 nm.



**Figure 4.22:** HPTLC analysis for *L. nodiflora* extracts with stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol standard on with light after sprayed with 10% sulphuric acid, H<sub>2</sub>SO<sub>4</sub> in ethanol.

# 4.5.4 High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) on Leaf, Stem and Callus Explants of *Lippia nodiflora*

HPLC was run to investigate the presence of desired compounds which are stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol on *L. nodiflora* plant as previous analysis had mentioned. Standard compounds were used to confirm its presence, to ensure the statement that had discuss on TLC and HPTLC analysis.

Figures 4.23 to 4.28 showed the standard curve for  $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol and its peak on HPLC chromatogram with retention time. Table 4.14 explains retention time, peak area and height of injected standards using 1000 mg/L concentration. Standard curve was obtained from the serial dilution of 1000 mg/L which were, 100 mg/L, 200 mg/L, 300 mg/L, 400 mg/L and 500 mg/L of each standards including blank. From the standard curve, both  $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol has obtained its equation; y= mx + c which will lead us to calculate the concentration of compounds in *L. nodiflora* extracts with y= 6831.9x – 9207.3 (Figure 4.24) and y= 7648.8x + 121188 (Figure 4.26) respectively. The concentration of compounds found in explants extracts were calculated by inserting its area number to y and calculate the x. Table 4.15 shows the concentration of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol present in 1.50 g/mL explant extracts.

There were 22 peaks recorded for both leaf and stem extracts (Figure 4.27A) while there were five to ten peaks recorded from callus extracts (Figure 4.28A). The age of explants also contributes as one of the factors in the extraction of compounds. Also, the methodology used for this experiment were designated to isolate the stigmasterol and  $\beta$ sitosterol compounds. Thus, this might cause unfavorable condition especially in callus extracts. Optimization of methods are crucial factor in obtaining good results especially in age profile of explants, method to dry explants, extraction method, HPLC method and mobile phase used. However, this study was a targeted analysis, and the desired compounds were successfully separated and identified in the explants extracts.

In 10  $\mu$ L of injection from 1.50 g/mL leaf and stem extract, it was found that there might be some appearance of  $\beta$ -sitosterol however, it was not significant as seen on the record. Similarly, it was also not significant for stigmasterol compound in callus extracts and the absence in stem explants but as for leaf extracts, the volumetric concentration 91.40 mg/L and pure concentration of 6.09 x 10<sup>-2</sup> mg/g obtained, considered significant (highlighted in green) compare to callus. Its retention time was 8.71 min while stigmasterol standard was 8.70 min shows that it has high similarity with 0.01 deviation. As seen on Figure 4.25, leaf extracts peak was right under stigmasterol peak (as labelled) showed an indication of the same compound. The previous discussion on HPTLC analysis also mentioned that from the R<sub>f</sub> value obtained, leaf extracts contained the steroid compounds. However the HPLC analysis,  $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol was separated and the observation of the peak shows that on stigmasterol is considerably significant in leaf extracts compare to other explants.

Other than that, Figure 4.27B shows the no significant peaks of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ sitosterol on stem extracts. Equally for callus extracts in Figure 4.28B, callus initiated on MS media supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA + 2.00 mg/L KN showed no significant result. Previously discussed on TLC, callus extracts has were no bands aligned or even close to the standards bands. In HPTLC analysis, callus extracts from MS media supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA + 2.00 mg/L KN did not show significant result too, with only traces of band compared to another callus extracts from MS media supplemented with 2.50 mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA that has solid band even though both has no significant appearance on the analysis. There were peaks under stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol chromatogram but in a very small amount (4.20 and 11.67 mg/L respectively) in callus extract. The peaks however, might represent other compounds which possess molecular weight 412 g/mol (stigmasterol) and 414 g/mol (β-sitosterol). As observed in Figure 4.28A, there were only five to ten peaks observed on the callus extracts. The extractions were prepared at callus 3<sup>rd</sup> to 4<sup>th</sup> week of its lifespan, secondary metabolites might have not developed at this stage but only primary metabolites. Figures 4.29 to 4.32 showed chromatogram of leaf, stem, callus induced on leaf explants and callus induced on stem explants extracts respectively.



Figure 4.23: Peak of stigmasterol standard compound at retention time (RT) 8.70 min.



Figure 4.24: Standard curve for stigmasterol.



**Figure 4.25:** Peak of  $\beta$ - sitosterol standard compound at retention time (RT) 10.05 min.



**Figure 4.26:** Standard curve for  $\beta$ - sitosterol.

<b>Table 4.14:</b> Standard $\beta$ -sitosterol and stigmasterol HPLC anal	lysis
--	-------

Standard	Retention Time (RT), min	Area, ×10 <sup>5</sup>	Height, ×10 <sup>4</sup>
β- sitosterol	10.05	12.06	60.13
Stigmasterol	8.70	7.03	46.18



**Figure 4.27:** HPLC analysis on leaf and stem extracts on stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol standards (A) Chromatogram of leaf and stem extracts (B) Enlargement from stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol peak areas.



**Figure 4.28:** HPLC analysis callus extracts on stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol standards (A) Chromatogram of six callus extracts including standards (B) Enlargement from stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol peak areas.



Figure 4.29: Leaf extracts chromatogram.



Figure 4.30: Stem extracts chromatogram.



**Figure 4.31:** Callus extracts from callus induced on leaf explants supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA.



Figure 4.32: Callus extracts from callus induced on stem explants supplemented with 3.00 mg/L NAA.

Sample	Retention Time (RT, min)	Area, ×10 <sup>4</sup>	Volumetric Concentration (mg/L)	Concentration (mg/g)		
Stigmasterol						
Leaf	8.71	82.05	91.40	6.09 x 10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Callus	8.69	1.94	4.20	2.80 x 10 <sup>-3</sup>		
β-sitosterol						
Leaf	10.17	11.89	18.75	1.25 x 10 <sup>-2</sup>		
Stem	10.53	70.56	11.67	7.78 x 10 <sup>-3</sup>		

**Table 4.15:** Concentration of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol in plant extracts for 1.50 g/mL.

Fang et al. (2014) investigated the fingerprint of *L. nodiflora* methanolic extracts main significant secondary metabolites. Firstly the study had fractionated the extracts by serial purification and able to obtain eight flavonoids which are (1) 3,7,4',5'-tetrahydroxy-3'-methoxyflavone, (2) nodifloretin, (3) 4'-hydroxywogonin, (4) onopordin, (5) cirsiliol, (6) 5,7,8,4'-tetrahydroxy-3'-methoxyflavone, (7) eupafolin, (8) hispidulin, and (9)  $\beta$ -sitosterol. High Performance- Liquid Chromatography with ultraviolet detector (HPLC-UV) was used to analyse fingerprint analysis and quantitative determination of the main significant secondary metabolites which are onopordin and eupafolin, using its standard.

#### 4.5.5 Antimicrobial Activity of leaf, stem and callus extracts of *Lippia nodiflora*

Two bacterial strains *Escherichia coli* and *Bacillus subtilis* with two fungal strains *Candida albicans* and *Aspergillus niger* were tested their susceptibility to *L. nodiflora* methanolic extracts. The positive control used for antibacterial and fungal compounds were ampicillin and fluconazole respectively. The extracts were tested at three different concentrations of 0.50, 1.00 and 1.50 mg/mL. Maximum zone of inhibition for all strains was observed using highest concentration 1.50 mg/mL for each leaf, stem and callus extracts as it gave the highest inhibition zone toward the microbial species either it is the nearest value to compare with the control or over it.

Firstly the bacterial strain *B. subtilis*, callus extract was more resilient than leaf and stem extracts with 9.00 mm inhibition zone however, not significant as the standard ampicillin. As for *E. coli*, leaf extracts inhibited the highest with 15.33 mm, followed by callus extracts, 11.33 mm. Leaf and stem extracts did not show potential on antibacterial property compared to callus extracts. *L. nodiflora* extracts on fungal strains gave significant inhibition zone for all leaf, stem and callus extracts. Maximum zone of inhibition for *C. albicans* was observed and callus extracts gave the highest inhibition zone with 15.00 mm while for *A. niger*, leaf extracts gave the highest with inhibition zone 11.33 mm with tiny margin compare to callus extracts with 11.00 mm.

Based on antifungal property, *L. nodiflora* extracts from leaf, stem and callus has shown greater potential than the control used which was fluconazole. In short, *L. nodiflora* plant has antimicrobial properties especially on its leaf explants compare with stem, however the callus induced from leaf explants was able to give better results than its initial form.

Type of	Leaf	Stem	Callus
Bacillus subtilis	A C B	A Am C C	A C B
Escherichia coli	Am A B C	A C B	A Am B PC
Candida albicans		A F C C	
Aspergillus niger	R C B C	Fo A B	F B C

 Table 4.16:
 Zone of inhibition of sample extract.

\*A: 0.50 mg/mL; B: 1.00 mg/mL; C: 1.50 mg/mL of leaf, stem and callus extracts; A<sub>m</sub>: Ampicillin; F: Fluconazole

Species of	Type of extracts	Mean (mm)		
microbes		Leaf	Stem	Callus
B. subtilis	Standard (ampicillin)	24.30±0.79 <sup>a</sup>	21.00±0.00 <sup>a</sup>	20.33±0.67 <sup>a</sup>
	0.50 mg/mL	$6.16 \pm 0.20^{\circ}$	$5.33 \pm 0.33^{b}$	$5.00\pm0.00^{\circ}$
	1.00 mg/mL	7.10±0.21 <sup>bc</sup>	$5.33 \pm 0.33^{b}$	$7.67 \pm 0.67^{bc}$
	1.50 mg/mL	8.10±0.31 <sup>b</sup>	$6.07 \pm 0.13^{b}$	$9.00 \pm 0.00^{b}$
E. coli	Standard (ampicillin)	23.00±0.11 <sup>a</sup>	$24.50 \pm 0.68^{a}$	24.33±0.13 <sup>a</sup>
	0.50 mg/mL	15.33±0.29 <sup>b</sup>	5.83±49 <sup>c</sup>	$6.47 \pm 0.17^{\circ}$
	1.00 mg/mL	$8.07 \pm 0.43^{\circ}$	7.13±0.23 <sup>bc</sup>	$7.70 \pm 0.36^{bc}$
	1.50 mg/mL	$8.10\pm0.26^{c}$	$8.60 \pm 0.15^{b}$	$11.33 \pm 0.37^{b}$
C. albicans	Standard (fluconazole)	5.33±0.33 <sup>c</sup>	$5.23 \pm 0.12^{c}$	5.70±0.21 <sup>c</sup>
	0.50 mg/mL	$6.00\pm0.00^{\circ}$	5.33 ±0.33 <sup>c</sup>	8.23±0.27 <sup>c</sup>
	1.00 mg/mL	$8.56 \pm 0.53^{b}$	$8.27 \pm 0.14^{b}$	11.33±0.33 <sup>b</sup>
	1.50 mg/mL	$11.03\pm0.37^{a}$	10.33±0.24 <sup>a</sup>	$15.00 \pm 0.57^{a}$
A. niger	Standard (fluconazole)	6.33±0.33 <sup>c</sup>	7.70±0.21 <sup>ab</sup>	$7.70\pm0.10^{ab}$
	0.50 mg/mL	$5.00\pm0.00^{d}$	$6.67 \pm 0.44^{\circ}$	7.33±0.73 <sup>b</sup>
	1.00 mg/mL	8.33±0.33 <sup>b</sup>	$7.50 \pm 0.29^{ab}$	$9.00 \pm 0.00^{ab}$
	1.50 mg/mL	11.30±0.33 <sup>a</sup>	8.67±0.33 <sup>a</sup>	$11.00\pm0.00^{a}$

Table 4.17: Mean value of zone of inhibition L. nodiflora extract on selected microbes.

 $Values are expressed as Mean \pm SE of triplicate measurements. A value of p < 0.05 was considered statistically significant (By one way ANOVA followed by Tukey's Honest Significant Difference test at a confidence level of 95%)$ 

Malathi et al. (2011) reported that *L. nodiflora* extracts extracted from hexane, chloroform and alcohol respectively inhibited *B. subtilis*. A different extraction method was used by Zare et al. (2012) and it shows inhibition of gram positive bacteria were more susceptible than negative gram bacteria however, similarly *L. nodiflora* extracts shown better results for fungi. Even though smaller concentrations were used the inhibition percentage is higher may be due to different methods where they have used percolation method. *Aloysia triphylla* (Verbenaceae) was investigated by Parodi et al. (2013) and they found that the extracts acquired from three different temperatures and pressures produced different compounds and indicated that the present of monoterpenoids were important for its antimicrobial activity.

Overall, standard compounds for antibacterial shows better inhibition compared to other concentration of all extracts while fluconazole mostly had lower inhibiton than other concentration of all extracts. The figures showed that the higher the extract's concentration, the higher inhibition zone observed.

### 4.5.6 Antioxidant Activity on *Lippia nodiflora* Leaf and Stem Explants

Free radical scavenging activity was done by using DPPH assay to obtain information on the mechanisms of the antioxidative effects of *L. nodiflora* extracts. Their radical scavenging effects was examined by measuring changes of DPPH radicals at 517 nm in absorbance using spectrophotometer. The absorption maximum of a stable DPPH radical in methanol was at 517 nm. The decrease in absorbance of DPPH radical caused by antioxidants, because of the reaction between antioxidant molecules and radical progresses, results in the scavenging of the radical by hydrogen donation. It is visually noticeable as a change in color from purple to yellow. Hence, DPPH is usually used as a substrate to evaluate the antioxidative activity of antioxidants (Chang et al., 2002).

Figure 4.33 and Table 4.18 showed the results obtained from DPPH assay in IC<sub>50</sub> ( $\mu$ g/mL), ascorbic acid was used as a standard for this experiment and IC<sub>50</sub> value for it is 205  $\mu$ g/mL. The results revealed that the stem explants exhibited the radical scavenging activity with concentration of 5932  $\mu$ g/mL, while leaf was 14535  $\mu$ g/mL and callus was 30291  $\mu$ g/mL. Figure 4.32 shows that as the concentration of sample increased, the percentage of scavenging activity also increasing. This result can be applied for all three sample extracts. However, stem explants possessed higher percentage of scavenging activity compared to leaf explants and callus with 92.20% compared to 36.40% and 16.40% for the highest concentration (10, 000  $\mu$ g/mL) of extracts respectively.

Sudha and Srinivasan (2014) reported that methanolic extracts on aerial part of *L. nodiflora* was found to had significant scavenging effects with increasing concentrations with 79.35% inhibition compare to the control used 86.42% 2-deoxy-D-ribose, butylated hydroxyl toluene (BHT). Aerial part of *L. nodiflora* consists of exposed leaf and stem from an intact plant. This study on the other hand, extract leaf and stem separately to identify which part of plant possess higher antioxidant activity. The average of both explants POI resulted with 64.3%, showing lower than Sudha & Srinivasan (2014).

Teoh et al. (2013) investigated *L. nodiflora* extracts with methanol and ethyl acetate however, the results showed that other than methanol extraction gave better result than ethyl acetate extraction, the leaf extracts gave also better result than stem extracts with 93.26%, 90.1% and 89.82%, 72.7% respectively, opposite with the current study. Initially, Teoh freeze dried her sample while the current study used raw materials to do soxhlet extraction. Also, it was found that the duration of the soxhlet apparatus was running during extraction was differed which Teoh run the extraction with 13 hours while the current study was 24 hours. Other than that, the extracts was kept at -80°C while the current study mentioned that it was kept at -20°C. So, these differences might affected the results from both studies and Teoh methods gave better results in antioxidant activity.

Thamaraiselvi et al. (2013) also investigated antioxidant activity on the leaf explants of *Lippia nodiflora* using Soxhlet apparatus and fractionated using methanol, chloroform, petroleum ether and hexane solvents. The result showed that the leaf extracts gave IC<sub>50</sub> value of 79.37  $\mu$ g/mL on ascorbic acid as control with 30.09  $\mu$ g/mL.

To conclude, it shows that stem extracts has significant antioxidant property however, leaf and callus extracts obtained from the study was not as significant. As discussed earlier on callus growth curve of callus induction section, the extraction was done during the highest biomass collection which is around third to fourth week of callus induction. However, the callus might had not prepared or fully equipped with secondary metabolites comparable to *in vivo* plant similarly reported by Ng et al. (2016) mentioning primary metabolites has high concentration in callus and secondary metabolites has higher concentration in shoot, compared to callus in *Boesenbergia rotunda*. Ashokkumar et al. (2008) reported that phenolic compounds are associated with antioxidant activity.

Furthermore, the process of methanolic extraction usually extracted phenolic compounds, thus assuming this phenolic group contributed to the antioxidant activity of *L. nodiflora*. It has been suggested by Tanaka et al. (1998) that up to 1 g of polyphenolics compound ingested daily has inhibitory effects on mutagenesis and carcinogenesis in humans (Ashokkumar et al., 2008). Callus extracts on the other hand, gave good result on antimicrobial activity compare to leaf and stem explants when leaf and callus extracts possess antioxidant activity but it was not as significant as stem explants of *L. nodiflora*. Handling experiments need extra caution where trivial matters such as collection of young leaf as sample, overheating solvent on soxhlet apparatus, degradation of compounds during drying of extracts and the condition of extracts storage may lead to wrong data collection and interpretation.



Figure 4.33: Scavenging activity against final concentration of sample.

Sample Extracts	IC <sub>50</sub> (μg/mL)
Ascorbic acid	205
Stem	5932
Leaf	14535
Callus	30291

Table 4.18: IC<sub>50</sub> value antioxidant activity of for *L. nodiflora* extracts.

# 4.6 Anticancer Study on Cell Line HCT 116

The anticancer study has been investigated on HCT116 human colon cancer cells with *Lippia nodiflora* leaf and stem extracts. The study has shown the effect of the extracts on the cancer cells with the percentage of inhibition (POI).

Figures 4.34 to 4.37 showed all four extracts percentage of inhibition (%) on HCT116 cancer cells against concentration ( $\mu$ g/mL) of *L. nodiflora* extracts. Table 4.19 shows half maximal inhibitory concentration of MTT assay for fresh and dried leaf and stem extracts. MTT (3-(4, 5-dimethylthiazol-2-yl)-2, 5-diphenyl-2H-tetrazolium bromide) assay is commonly used to identify the proliferation of cells by the determination of mitochondrial reductive function and hence it gave a good indicator of cell death or inhibition of growth (Pope, 2010). It was done to evaluate the cytotoxity of *L. nodiflora* extracts on HCT116 based on the percentage of inhibition of cells after 72 hours of treatment. According from percentage of inhibition, dried stem extracts gave the highest number with 95% followed by dried leaf extracts, 91%, then, fresh leaf extracts and stem extracts with 86 and 83% respectively. Reduction of purple color of the MTT had occurred from bottom to top (G to A well) at the 96 well plate was due to cell's death. The lighter color indicates higher cell's death and the dark color shows that higher cell counts.

IC<sub>50</sub> value was calculated by the linear equation of every graphs shown on Figure 4.34 to 4.37. Where x is IC<sub>50</sub> value and y is the percentage of inhibition. The IC<sub>50</sub> values produced here were an indication where it was the first known reporting of their activity against cancer cell lines. Based on the result of IC<sub>50</sub> value, which was not similar to percentage of inhibition, the dried leaf gave the lowest IC<sub>50</sub> value followed by dried stem, fresh leaf and fresh stem extracts (19.15  $\mu$ g/mL, 40.23  $\mu$ g/mL, 47.80  $\mu$ g/mL and 60.98  $\mu$ g/mL respectively). The lower the IC<sub>50</sub> value indicates the higher susceptibility of the cells towards the treatment. The cytotoxicity level of the extracts can be divided into

strong (<100  $\mu$ g/mL), moderate (101- 200  $\mu$ g/mL), and weak (>200  $\mu$ g/mL) (Garbi et al., 2015). Therefore, all of the four samples had a strong level of inhibition and were capable of inhibiting HCT116 colon cancer cell lines.

Punitha et al. (2012) reported *Gmelina arborea* (Verbenaceae) was able to inhibit another type of colon cancer (COLO 201) along with Gastric cancer cells (HT- 29) and Human oesophagel cancer cells (TE- 2) cell by. The maximum cell proliferation percentage of inhibition was found to be 62% in Colon cancer cell (COLO 201), 80% in Gastric cancer cell (HT- 29) and 70% in Human Oesophagal cancer cells (TE- 2).

Other than colon cancer, Teoh et al. (2013) had found that *L. nodiflora* extracts was able to inhibit MCF7 breast cancer cell growth via apoptosis induction with leaf extracts which was extracted using ethyl acetate and methanol ( $EC_{50}$  value 0.4271 mg/mL and 0.6177 mg/mL respectively). Based on HPLC analysis, stigmasterol compound had been identified to be present in *L. nodiflora*. Stigmasterol had several records on successful anticancer study by elongating tested subject survival duration against Ehrlich Ascites Carcinoma (EAC) and also other study found reduction of tumor size in skin cancer (Ashokkumar et al., 2009; Ghosh et al., 2011; Ali et al., 2015).

Considering that *L. nodiflora* has a strong level of cytotoxicity based on its  $IC_{50}$  value, it has potential on anticancer activity for pharmaceutical use. It also proven to inhibit other cancer cells as discussed earlier and Verbenaceae family had many research on anticancer properties.



Figure 4.34: Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of *L. nodiflora* fresh leaf extracts.



Figure 4.35: Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of *L. nodiflora* fresh stem extracts.



Figure 4.36: Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of *L. nodiflora* dried leaf extracts.



Figure 4.37: Percentage of inhibition, % versus concentration of *L. nodiflora* dried stem extracts.

Table 4.19: IC<sub>50</sub> value of MTT proliferation assay for *L. nodiflora* extracts.

Sample Extracts	IC50 (µg/mL)
Fresh Leaf	47.80
Fresh Stem	60.98
Dried Leaf	19.15
Dried Stem	40.23

## 4.7 Correlation Analysis

Table 4.20 shows  $\beta$ - sitosterol (BS) was negatively correlated to antioxidant activity (AO) while stigmasterol (S) was shown a significant correlation towards anticancer activities (AC), as proven to be found in *L. nodiflora* based on HPTLC and HPLC analysis, which indicate that this substance is directly included in such activities. Hinkle et al. (2003) interpreted the size of correlation explaining that the range of 0.70 to 0.90 (-0.70 to 0.90) has high positive (negative) correlation between two variables while .00 to .30 (.00 to -.30) has negligible correlation. As correlation coefficient are used to assess the strength and direction of linear relationship, correlation coefficient of zero indicates no linear relationship while -1 or +1 indicates a perfect linear relationship and any correlation coefficient described the variables are directly related while negative coefficient is inversely related (Mukaka, 2012).

Correlation				
	BS	S	AO IC50	AC IC50
BS	1			
S	.829**	1		
AO IC50	745*	244	1	
AC IC50	.246	.747*	.463	1

Table 4.20: Pearson's correlation coefficients between the variables.

\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.05 level (2-tailed).

\*\*. Correlation is significant at the 0.01 level (2-tailed)

#### **CHAPTER 5: CONCLUSION**

*Lippia nodiflora* was known for its ornamental value and also as a medicinal plant. The micromorphological study on the leaf of *Lippia nodiflora* also had shown the presence of oil gland along with the arrangement of the diacytic stomata and a distinct simple unicellular trichomes on the abaxial and adaxial leaf surfaces with stomata index 19.52% and 19.86% respectively. The trichomes exhibit an uncommon simple unicellular with two ends, connected to the epidermal tissue at the center of the trichome.

The induction of callus was successful on most MS media supplemented with plant growth regulators especially auxin and combinations of auxin and cytokinin. Callus induction was not obtained on the control condition which was MS media without plant growth regulators. Light green friable callus was obtained from callus induction with MS media supplemented with NAA and 2,4-D while mostly green compact callus was obtained on callus induction with MS media supplemented with auxins IAA, IAA, cytokinin BA, KN and combinations auxins and cytokinin.

The highest biomass and best nature obtained for single PGRs were 2.50 mg/L NAA (118.60 mg/L) with light green friable callus for auxin and 1.00 mg/L BA (42.60 mg/L) with green compact callus for cytokinin. The highest biomass and best nature for combination PGRs were 3.00 mg/L NAA + 2.00 mg/L KN (165.00 mg/L) with green compact and friable callus and 2.50 mg/L IBA + 1.00 mg/L BA (139.60 mg/L) with green compact callus. The *in vitro* growth curve of callus had shown that the optimum biomass was obtained on  $3^{rd}$  week for single PGRs and  $3^{rd}$  to  $4^{th}$  week for combination PGRs. Mass propagation of callus can be done through the exponential phase of the callus before the highest biomass reached as delays will resulted in stationary phase and cause slowing down of callus proliferation.

Overall, *in vitro* growth curve showed that stem explants has shown better callus induction response and biomass to compare with leaf explants. Compact callus also had given longer duration of callus proliferation than in friable callus from the exposure of browning effect that leads to dead callus.

Plant regeneration of *Lippia nodiflora* was successful in both control (MS media without plant growth regulators) and MS media supplemented with plant growth regulators. However, high response of plant regeneration was found in control (90%) in comparison with the tested treatment but the control was only able to produce one shoot at a time compare with other treatment. The control condition also gave the highest length (mean  $6.40 \pm 0.45$  cm) with maximum over 8 cm long (8.50 cm longest). The highest number of shoots had found on combination PGRs IAA + BA (2.70 ± 0.14 shoots) maximum number of four shoots. The successfully regenerated plant was able to generate roots by inoculation in MS media supplemented with IAA and IBA PGRs. All concentrations of IAA and IBA was able to produce roots and 3.00 mg/L IAA had the highest amount five roots per plantlet.

Mass propagation of *Lippia nodiflora* plant *in vivo* and *in vitro* can be done using the control as the acclimatization took place, the plant was able to propagate healthily in a few weeks duration.

*Lippia nodiflora* has potential anticancer compounds including antimicrobial and antioxidant properties. The extraction process of *Lippia nodiflora* plant which was through methanolic soxhlet extractions was able to provide for antimicrobial, antioxidant and anticancer activities experiments. The Thin Layer Chromatography (TLC) experiment has showed the presence of steroids compound and High Performance Thin layer Chromatography (HPTLC) verify the presence of steroids compounds. High Performance Liquid Chromatography (HPLC) was tested with both steroids standard compound stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol which resulted that stigmasterol was present in *Lippia nodiflora*. Both stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol had almost similar molecular formula (C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>50</sub>O and C<sub>29</sub>H<sub>48</sub>O respectively) as they were categorised under phytosterols that only present in plant, having similar chemical structure as cholesterols. Experiments that has been done was difficult to differentiate both compounds except for HPLC as their retention time (RT, minute) was different in acetonitrile: methanol (80:20) as mobile phase with RT 8.69 and 10.05 minutes respectively. Multiple experiments were done on TLC and HPTLC but the R<sub>f</sub> values were almost similar with each other, hence stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol were not able to be differentiate from the plant extracts.

*Lippia nodiflora* extracts has antimicrobial property which inhibit bacteria and fungi. However, its potential as antifungal activity is greater compared to antibacterial activity that was able to give better result than the control used (15 mm inhibition zone over 5 mm on *Candida albicans* respectively). Callus extracts gave the highest inhibition zone compared with leaf and stem extracts. Gas Chromatography Mass Spectrometry (GC-MS) chromatogram had identified 14 compounds from the methanolic extracts of *Lippia nodiflora* and one of the compound, tetradecanoic acid has the property of antimicrobial and antioxidant activity. The antioxidant property present in *Lippia nodiflora* extracts showed potential from stem explants compared with leaf and callus extracts with  $IC_{50}$  5932 µg/mL (stem extracts) over 205 µg/mL (ascorbic acid as control). Overall, stem extracts has significant antioxidant property that can assist in the pharmaceutical industry.

This study has been aimed on colon cancer HCT116 cells, where preliminary assay (MTT assay) was done to investigate the inhibition of cancer cells production. *Lippia nodiflora* extracts was able to inhibit the cancer cells where dried leaf extracts gave the highest inhibition (19.15  $\mu$ g/mL) however, the IC<sub>50</sub> value of all tested fresh and dried leaf

and stem extracts had a near value which all treatments gave  $IC_{50}$  value of strong level of cytotoxity against cancer cells with  $IC_{50}$  value <100  $\mu$ g/mL.

Stigmasterol is a natural product that has anticancer property with successful records against several types of cancer cells. As the phytochemical screening proven that stigmasterol was present in *Lippia nodiflora*, this compound can be suggested as the source of the anticancer property that assist in the anticancer activity. Thus, *Lippia nodiflora* has high potential to assist in the medical and pharmaceutical industry especially on anticancer study to aid successful treatment for cancer.

#### REFERENCES

- Abbasi, A. M., Khan, M. A., Ahmad, M., Zafar, M., Jahan, S., & Sultana, S. (2010). Ethnopharmacological applications of medicinal plants to cure skin diseases and in folk cosmetics among the tribal communities of North-West Frontier Province, Pakistan. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 128(2), 322-335.
- Abirami, P., & Rajendran, A. (2011). GC-MS determination of bioactive compounds of Indigofera aspalathoides. Journal of Natural Product and Plant Resources, 1(4), 126–130.
- Abrams, L. R. and Ferris, R. S. (1923). An Illustrated Flora of the Pacific States: Geraniaceae to Scrophulariaceae, geraniums to figworts (pp. 612-613). California: Stanford University Press.
- Agarwal, V. S. (1997). *Drug plants of India* (Vol. 2, pp. 82-83). New Delhi, India: Kaly-ani Publisher.
- Ahmed, A. B. A., Gouthaman, T., Rao, A. S., & Rao, M. V. (2005). Micropropagation of *Phyla nodiflora* (L.) Greene: An important medicinal plant. *Iranian Journal of Biotechnology*, 3(3), 186-190.
- Ahmed, A. B. A., Rao, A. S., Rao, M. V., & Taha, R. M. (2011a). Effect of picloram, additives and plant growth regulators on somatic embryogenesis of *Phyla* nodiflora (L.) Greene. Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology, 54(1), 7-13.
- Ahmed, A. B. A., Rao, A. S., Rao, M. V., & Taha, R. M. (2011b). Optimized conditions for callus induction, plant regeneration and alkaloids accumulation in stem and shoot tip explants of *Phyla nodiflora*. Spanish Journal of Agricultural Research, 9(4), 1262-1270.
- Ali, H., Dixit, S., Ali, D., Alqahtani, S. M., Alkahtani, S., & Alarifi, S. (2015). Isolation and evaluation of anticancer efficacy of stigmasterol in a mouse model of DMBAinduced skin carcinoma. *Drug Design, Development and Therapy*, 9, 2793–2800.
- Amir, F., Yam, W. S., & Chin, K. Y. (2011). Chemical constituents and biological applications of *Lippia nodiflora*. Archieves of Pharmacy Practice, 2(3), 101-105.
- Argyropoulou, C., Daferera, D., Tarantilis, P. A., Fasseas, C., & Polissiou, M. (2007) Chemical composition of the essential oil from leaves of *Lippia citriodora* H.B.K. (Verbenaceae) at two developmental stages. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 35, 831-837.
- Ashokkumar, D., Mazumder, U. K., Gupta, M., & Selvan, V. T. (2009). Effect on inhibition of proliferation and antioxidant enzyme level of *Lippia nodiflora* in EAC cell line treated mice. *Journal of Complementary and Integrative Medicine*, 6(1). Retrieved on 20 January, 2015 from https://www.degruyter.com/view/j/jcim.2009.6.1/jcim...6.1.../jcim.2009.6.1.1233 .xml

- Ashokkumar, D., Thamilselvan, V., Mazumder, U. K., & Gupta, M. (2008). Antioxidant and free radical scavenging effects of *Lippia nodiflora*. *Pharmaceutical Biology*, 46(10-11), 762-771.
- Balaji, P., & Ebenezer, G. A. I. (2013). *In vitro* micropropagation of *Phyla nodiflora* (Linn.) Greene a native medicinal plant. *Discovery Biotechnology*, 2(5), 23-28.
- Balamurugan, R., Duraipandiyan, V., & Ignacimuthu, S. (2011). Antidiabetic activity of γ-sitosterol isolated from *Lippia nodiflora* L. in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. *European Journal of Botany*, 667, 410-418.
- Barua, A. K., Chakrabarti, P., & Sanyal P. K. (1971). Structure of nodifloretin new flavone from *Lippia nodiflora*. *Transactions of the Bose Research Institute*, 3, 5-8.
- Bauer, A. W., Kirby, W. M., Sherris, J. C., & Turck, M. (1966). Antibiotic susceptibility testing by a standardized single disk method. *American Journal of Clinical Pathology*, 45(4), 493-6.
- Bendich, A. (2001). Dietary reference intakes for vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and caroteoids institute of medicine. Washington, DC: National Academy Press, 2000. *Nutrition*, 17 (4), 364.
- Calvache, O. L. B., Villota, J. M., & Tovar, D. M. (2010). Characterization of essential oil present in the leaves of *Phyla nodiflora* (L.) Greene (OROZUL). *University and Health*, 12(1), 57-64.
- Carlquist, S. (1958). Structure and ontogeny of glandular trichomes of Madinae (Compositae). *American Journal of Botany*, 45, 675-682.
- Chang, L. W., Yan, W. J., Huang, S. C., & Duh, P. D. (2002). Antioxidant activity of sesame coat. *Food Chemistry*, 78, 347-354.
- Chiang, M. H., Yao, C. C., Ming, H. T., Chan, J. L., Lee, F. H., Shu, Y. L, ... Chiang, W. L. (2014). Eupafolin, a skin whitening flavonoid isolated from *Phyla nodiflora*, downregulated melanogenesis: Role of MAPK and Akt pathways. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 151, 386–393.
- Cheng, L. C., Murugaiyah, V., & Chan, K. L. (2015). Flavonoids and phenylethanoid glycosides from *Lippia nodiflora* as promising antihyperuricemic agents and elucidation of their mechanism of action. *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, *176*, 485-493.
- Chen, S. L., & Gilbert, M. G. (1994). Verbenaceae. *Flora of China* (Vol. 17, pp. 1-49). Beijing: Science Press.
- Chopra, R. N., & Nayar, S. L. (1956). *Glossary of Indian medicinal plants* (pp. 155). New Delhi, India: Council of Scientific and Industrial Research.
- Clarke, O. F. (2007). Flora of the Santa Ana River and Environs: with Reference to World Botany (pp. 317). Berkeley, California: Heyday Books.

- Diplock, A. T. (1998). Defense against reactive oxygen species. *Free Radical Research*, 29, 463-467.
- Dodds, J. H., & Roberts, L. W. (1987). *Plant Tissue Culture* (pp. 54). New York, NY: Cambridge University Press.
- Dole, C. H. (2003). *The Butterfly Gardener's Guide* (No. 175, pp. 83). New York, NY: Brooklyn Botanic Garden.
- Elakovich, S. D., & Stevens, K. L. (1985). Volatile constituents of *Lippia nodiflora*. *Journal of Natural Products*, *3*, 504-506.
- Everitt, J. H., Drawe, D. L., & Lonard, R. I. (1999). Field Guide to the Broad-leaved Herbaceous Plants of South Texas: Used by Livestock and Wildlife (pp. 247). Lubbock, Texas: Texas Tech University Press.
- Fang, J. L., Feng, L. Y., Pei, C. C, Moo, C. W., Chun, N. L., Chiang, W. L., & Horng, H. K. (2014). HPLC-fingerprints and antioxidant constituents of *Phyla nodiflora*. *The Scientific World Journal*, 2014. Retrieved on 5 January, 2015 from https://www.hindawi.com/journals/tswj/2014/528653/.
- Foresti, M. L., Errazu, A., & Ferreira, M. (2005). Effect of several reaction parameters in the solvent-free ethyl oleate synthesis using *Candida rugosa* lipase immobilised on polypropylene. *Biochemical Engineering Journal*, 25(1), 69-77.
- Forestieri, A. M., Monforte, M. T., Ragusa, S., Trovato, A., & Iauk, L. (1996). Antiinflammatory, analgesic and antipyretic activity in rodents of plant extracts used in African medicine. *Phytotheraphy Research*, 10(2), 100-106.
- Gamborg, O. L., Miller, R. A., & Ojima K. (1968). Nutrients requirements of suspension culture of soybean root cells. *Experimental Cell Research*, 50, 151-158.
- Garbi, M. I., Kabbashi, A. S., Osman, E. E., Dahab, M. M., Koko, W. S., & Ahmed, I. F. (2015). Antioxidant activity and phytochemical screening of methanolic leaves extract of *Bauhinia rufescens* (Lam.). *International Invention Journal of Biochemistry and Bioinformatics*, 3(3), 23-27.
- George, E. F., Michael, A. H., & Geert, J. D. K. (2008). *Plant Propagation by Tissue Culture* (3rd ed.) (Vol. 1, pp. 1-28). Dordrecht, Netherlands: Springer Science and Business Media.
- Ghosh, T., Maity, T. K., & Singh, J. (2011). Evaluation of anticancer activity of stigmasterol, a constituent isolated from *Bencopa monnieri* Linn aerial parts against Ehrlich ascites carcinoma in mice. *Oriental Pharmacy and Experimental Medicine*, 11(1), 41-49.
- Gupta, S. K., Khanuja, S. P. S., & Kumar, S. (2001). In vitro micropropagation of Lippia alba. Current Science-Bangalore, 81(2), 206-209.
- Gürel, S., Gürel, E., & Kaya, Z. (2001). Callus development and indirect shoot regeneration from seedling explants of Sugar Beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) cultured *in vitro*. *Turkey Journal of Botany*, 25, 25-33.

- Habib, N. A., Wood, C. B., Apostolov, K., Barker, W., Hershman, M. J., Aslam, M., ... Jenkins W. E. (1987). Stearic acid and carcinogenesis. *British Journal of Cancer*, 56, 455-458.
- Hill, C. B., & Roessner, U. (2013). Metabolic profiling of plant by GC-MS. In W. Weckwerth & G. Kahl (Eds.), *The Handbook of Plant Metabolomics* (1<sup>st</sup> ed., pp. 3-7). Weinheim, Germany: Wiley- Blackwell.
- Hinkle, D. E., Wiersma, W., & Jurs, S. G. (2003). *Applied statistics for the behavioral sciences*. (5th ed.). Boston, Massachusetts: Houghton Mifflin.
- Hussain, A., Qarshi, I.A., Nazir, H., Ullah, I., Rashid, M., & Shinwari, Z. K. (2013). In vitro callogenesis and organogenesis in Taxus wallichiana Zucc.; The Himalayan Yew. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 45(5), 1755-1759.
- Irshad, M., & Chaudhuri, P. S. (2002). Oxidant-antioxidant system: Role and significance in human body. *Indian Journal of Experimental Biology*, 40(11), 1233-9.
- Jabeen, M., Jillani, U., Chaudhary, B. A., & Uzair M. (2016). Phytochemical and Pharmacological studies of *Phyla nodiflora* (Verbenaceae): A review. *Pakistan Journal of Pharmaceutical Research*, 2(1), 49-54.
- Jain, S. M. (2000). *Somatic Embryogenesis in Woody Plants* (Vol. 6, pp. 149-150). The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publisher.
- Jayaweera, D. M. A. (1980). *Medicinal Plants (Indigenous and Exotic used in Ceylon), Colombo* (pp. 169). Sri Lanka: The National Science Council of Srilanka.
- JibinaBai, N., Sunilkumar, T., Saji, A., & Antony, V. T. (2014). In vitro regeneration of Lippia alba (Mill.) Ne Br. An ethnobotanical useful plant. International Journal of Bioassays, 3(7), 3119-3121.
- Joshi, B. C. (1970). Chemical examination of *Lippia nodiflora*. *The Research Journal of Hindi Science Academy*, *4*, 214-219.
- Kala, S. M. J., Balasubramanian, T., Soris, P. T., & Mohan, V. R. (2011). GC-MS determination of bioactive components of *Eugenia singampattiana* Bedd. *International Journal of ChemTech Research*, *3*(3), 1534-1537.
- Kamboj, A., & Saluja, A. K. (2010). Isolation of stigmasterol and  $\beta$ -sitosterol from petroleum ether extract of aerial parts of *Ageratum conyzoides* (Asteraceae). *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, *3*(1), 94-96.
- Kamboj, A., & Saluja, A. K. (2013). Development of validated HPTLC method for quantification of stigmasterol from leaf and stem of *Bryophyllum pinnatum*. *Arabian Journal of Chemistry*, 10, S2644-S2650. Retrieved on 1 March, 2015 from https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1878535213003468.
- Kaur, N., Chaudhary, J., Jain, A., & Kishore, L. (2011). Stigmasterol: A comprehensive review. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Science and Research*, 2259-2265.

- Kazlowska, K., Lin, H. T. V., Chang, S. H., & Tsai, G. J. (2013). In vitro and in vivo anticancer effects of sterol fraction from red algae *Phorphya dentata*. Evidencebased Complementary and Alternative Medicine, 2013. Retrieved on 1 March, 2015 from https://www.hindawi.com/journals/ecam/2013/493869/.
- Khalil, A. T., Lahloub, M. F., & Salma, O. M. (1995). Phenolic compounds from *Lippia* nodiflora. Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences, 11(2), 256-265.
- Kirtikar, K. R. (1918). *The Indian medicinal plants* (pp. 986-987). Allahabad, India: Sudhindra Nath Basu.
- Kirtikar, K. R., & Basu, B. D. (1975). Description and medicinal uses of *Phyla nodiflora*. In B. Singh and M. P. Singh (Eds.), *Indian medicinal plants* (2nd ed.) (Vol. 3, pp. 1916-1917). New Delhi, India: Jayeed Press.
- Ko, H. H., Chiang, Y. C., Tsai, M. H., Liang, C. J., Hsu, L. F., Shu, Y. L., ... Lee, C. W. (2013). Eupafolin, a skin whitening flavonoid isolated from *Phyla nodiflora*, downregulated melanogenesis: Role of MAPK and Akt pathways, *Journal of Ethnopharmacology*, 151, 386-393.
- Konwar, B. K., & Coutts, R. H. R. (1990). Rapid regeneration of sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) plants from *in vitro* cultures. In H. J. I Nijkamp, L. H. W. Van Der Plas & J. Van Aartrijk (Eds.), *Progress in Plant Cellular and Molecular Biology* (pp. 114-118). The Netherlands: Kluwer Academic Publishers.
- Kadereit, J. W., & Kubitzki, K. (2004). *The Families and Genera of Vascular Plants* (Vol. 4, pp. 449- 457). Germany: Springer- Verlag Berlin Heidelberg.
- Leigh, C., & Walton C. S. (2004). Lippia (*Phyla canescens*) in Queensland: Pest Status Review Series- Land Protection. Department of Natural Resources, Mines and Energy, Brisbane. Retrieved on 17 January, 2015 from https://www.wool.com/ globalassets/start/on-farm-research-and-development/production-systems-eco/pa stures/weed-and-pest-management/lippia-in-queensland.pdf.
- Leticia, C. A., Paiva, P. D. O., Paiva, R., & Garciano, H. P. (2010). Growth curve and biochemical analyses of callus of IPE-BRANCO (*Tabebuia roseo alba* (Ridl.) Sand. *Naturalia*, 33, 45-56.
- Levin, D. A. (1973). The role of trichome in plant defense. *The Quarterly Review of Biology*, 48, 3–15.
- Lloyd, G., & McCown, B. (1980). Commercially feasible micropropagation of mountain laurel, *Kalmia latifolia*, by use of shoot tip culture. *International Plant Propagators' Society*, *30*, 421-427.
- Loughrin, J. H., & Kasperbauer, M. J. (2003). Aroma content of fresh basil (Ocimum basilicum L.) leaves is affected by light reflected from colored mulches. Journal of Agricultural and Food Chemistry, 51(8), 2272-2276.
- Mako, G. A., & Noor, A. A. (2006). Antibacterial activity of ethanolic and aqueous crude extracts of *Lippia nodiflora* of Khairpur Mirus, Sindh, Pakistan. *Sindh University Research Journal*, 38(2), 1-4.

- Malathi, R., Cholarajan, A., Karpagam, K., Jaya, K. R., & Muthukumaran, P. (2011). Antimicrobial studies on selected medicinal plants (*Coleus amboinicus, Phyla nodiflora and Vitex negundo*). Asian Journal of Pharmaceutical Technology and Innovation, 1(2), 53-55.
- Manjunath, B. L. (1962). *The Wealth of India* (pp. 142-143). New Delhi, India: National Institute of Science Communication and Information Resources.
- Marx, H. E., O' Leary, N., Yuan, Y. W., Lu-Irving, P., Tank, D. C., Múlgura, M. E., & Olmstead, R. G. (2010). A molecular phylogeny and classification of Verbenaceae. *American Journal of Botany*, 97(10), 1647-1663.
- Mashile, S. P., & Tshisikhawe, M. P. (2017). Epidermal structure of stomata and trichomes of Vachellia tortilis (Forssk.) Galasso and Banfi. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 49(6), 2353-2355.
- Molina-Salinas, G.M., Perez-L'opez', A., Becerril-Montes, P., Salazar-Aranda R., Said-Fernandez', S., & Waksman de Torres, N. (2007). Evaluation of the flora of Northern Mexico for *in vitro* antimicrobial and antituberculosis activity. *Journal* of Ethnopharmacology, 109(3), 435-441.
- Monsen, E. R. (2000). Dietary reference intakes for the antioxidant nutrients: vitamin C, vitamin E, selenium, and carotenoids. *Journal of The Academy of Nutrition and Dietetics*, *100*(6), 637.
- Mukaka, M. M. (2012). A guide to appropriate use of correlation coefficient in medical research. *Malawi Medical Journal*, 24(3), 69-71.
- Munir, A. A. (1993). A taxonomic revision of the Genus *Phyla* Lour. (Verbenaceae) in Australia. *Journal of The Adelaide Botanic Gardens*, 15(2), 109-128.
- Murashige, T. (1974). Plant propagation through tissue culture. Annual Review of Plant Physiology, 15, 473-497.
- Murashige, T., & Skoog F. A. (1962). Revised media for rapid growth and bioassay with tobacco tissue cultures. *Physiologia Plantarum*, 15, 473-497.
- Muthulakshmi, A., Margret, J. R., & Mohan, V. R. (2012). GC-MS analysis of bioactive components of *Feronia elephantum* Correa (Rutaceae). *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 2, 69-74.
- Naidoo, Y., Samuels, J. N, Nicholas, A., & Rampersad, E. (2009). Leaf micromorphology of the African medicinal plant *Xysmalobium undulatum*. *Microscopy and Microanalysis*. 15(2), 884-885.
- Nair, A. G., Ramesh, P., Nagarjan, S., & Subraimanam, S. A. (1973). New flavone glycosides from *Lippia nodiflora*. *Indian Journal of Chemistry*, 2, 1316-1317.
- Naz, S., & Khatoon, K. (2014). The effect of auxins on callus induction in *Achyranthes* aspera. Pakistan Journal of Botany, 46(6), 2203-2207.

- Ng, T. L. M., Karim, R., Tan, Y. S., Teh, H. F., Danial, A. D., Ho, L. S., ... Harikrishna, J. A. (2016). Amino acid and secondary metabolite production in embryogenic and non-embryogenic callus of fingerroot ginger (*Boesenbergia rotunda*). *PLoS ONE*, 11(6), e0156714.
- Pant, D. D., & Kidwai, P. F. (1964). On the diversity in the development and organization of stomata in *Phyla nodiflora* Michx. *Current Science*, *33*, 653-654.
- Parodi, T. V., Vargas, A. P. C., Krewer, C., Flores, E. M. M., Baldisserotto, B., Heinzmann, B. M., ... Minozzo, M. (2013). Chemical composition and antibacterial activity of *Aloysia triphylla* (L'Hérit) Britton extracts obtained by pressurized CO<sub>2</sub> extraction. *Brazilian Archives of Biology and Technology*, 56(2), 283-292.
- Pascual, M. E., Slowing, K., Carretero, E., Sanchez, M. D., & Villar, A. (2001). Lippia: Traditional uses, chemistry and pharmacology: A review. Journal of Ethnopharmacology, 76, 201-214.
- Pendota, S. C., Grierson, D. S., & Afolayan A. J. (2008). The study on foliar micromorphology of *Hippobromus pauciflorus* using Scanning Electron Microscope. *Pakistan Journal of Biological Sciences*, 11, 1872-1874.
- Priya, S. E., & Ravindhran, R. (2015). Phytochemical analysis and antimicrobial properties of extracts from aerial parts of *Phyla nodiflora* (L.) Greene. *International Journal of Current Microbiology and Applied Science*, 4(2), 347-358.
- Prüm, B., Seidel, R., Bohn, H. F., & Speck, T. (2012). Impact of cell shape in hierarchically structured plant surfaces on the attachment of male Colorado potato beetles (*Leptinotarsa decemlineata*). *Beilstein Journal of Nanotechnology*, 3, 57– 64.
- Punitha, D., Thandavamoorthy, A., Arumugasamy, K., Danya, U., Udhayasankar, M. R., Baluprakash, T., & Suresh, S. N. (2012). Potent *in vitro* cytotoxic effect of *Gmelina arborea* Roxb. (Verbenaceae) on three human cancer cell lines. *International Journal of Pharma Sciences and Research*, 3(4), 357-363.
- Raj Bhansali, R., & Singh, K. (1982). Callus and shoot formation from leaf sugar cane in tissue culture. *Phytomorphology*, *12*,167-170.
- Rangachari, B., & Savarimuthu, I. (2011). Antidiabetic and hypolipidemic effect of methanol extract of *Lippia nodiflora* in streptozotocin induced diabetic rats. *Asian Pacific Journal Tropical Biomedicine*, *1*, 30-36.
- Ravikanth, V., Ramesh, P., Diwan, P. V., & Venkateswarlu, Y. (2002). Halleridone and Hallerone from *Phyla nodiflora* as taxonomic markers. *Biochemical Systematics and Ecology*, 28(9), 905-906.
- Ravikumar, V. R., & Sudha, T. (2011). Phytochemical and microbiological observations on *Phyla nodiflora* [*Lippia nodiflora* (L.)]. *International Journal of Research in Pharmacy and Chemistry*, 1(2), 117-120.

- Razdan, M. K. (2003). *Introduction to Plant Tissue Culture* (pp. 3-15). New Hampshire, United States of America: Science Publishers.
- Ritchie, G. A., Short, K. C., & Davey, M. R. (1989). *In vitro* shoot regeneration from callus, leaf axils and petioles of sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.). *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 40, 277–283.
- Robert, H. M. (2010). *Nelumbonaceae to Vitaceae: Water Lotuses to Grapes* (pp. 403-406). United States of America: Southern Illinois University Press.
- Rosemeyer, J., & Bodoprost, H. (2007). Analysis of phenacylester derivatives of fatty acids from human skin surface sebum by reversed-phase HPLC: chromatographic mobility as a function of physico-chemical properties. *International Journal of Molecular Science*, 8, 1111-1124.
- Roshchina, V. V., & Roshchina, V. D. (2012). *The excretory function of higher plants*. German: Springer Science & Business Media.
- Roy, G. P., & Shukla, B. K. (1992). *Flora of Madhya Pradesh: Chhatarpur and Damoh* (pp. 345). New Delhi, India: Ashish Publishing House.
- Ruddon, R. W. (2007). *Cancer Biology*. New York, United States of America: Oxford University Press.
- Salau, A. O., & Odeleye, O. M. (2007). Antimicrobial activity of *Mucuna pruriens* on selected bacteria. *African Journal of Biotechnology*, 6(18), 2091-2092.
- Salve, S. D., & Bhuktar, A. S. (2012). Pharmacognostic study of *Phyla nodiflora* Linn. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, *3*(3), 255-260.
- Sambamurthy, A. V. S. S. (2010). *Taxonomy of Angiosperms* (pp. 482-486). New Delhi, India: I. K. International Pvt. Ltd.
- Sandhya, M., Rao, N., Sudhanshu, & Ekta, M. (2012). Determination of natural compounds in dashmool extracts by Thin Layer Chromaography and High-Pressure Liquid Chromatography. *International Journal of Research in Ayurveda* and Pharmacy, 3(6), 814-817.
- Sankaranarayanan, S. (2008). Medical Taxonomy of Angiosperms: Recent Trends in Medicinal Uses and Chemical Constituents (1<sup>st</sup> ed.). India: Harishi Publication.
- Saunders, J. W., & Daub, M. E. (1984). Shoot regeneration from hormone-autonomous callus from shoot cultures of several sugar beet (*Beta vulgaris* L.) genotypes. *Plant Science Letter*, *34*, 219–223.
- Schenk, R. V., & Hildebrandt, A. C. (1972). Medium and techniques for induction of growth of monocotyledonous and dicotyledonous plant cell cultures. *Canadian Journal of Botany*, 50, 166-204.

- Seal, T. (2016). Quantitative HPLC analysis of phenolic acids, flavonoids and ascorbic acid in four different solvent extracts of two wild edible leaves, *Sonchus arvensis* and *Oenanthe linearis* of North-Eastern region in India. *Journal of Applied Pharmaceutical Science*, 6(2), 157-166.
- Sharma, A., Meena, S., & Rishi, A. (2011). Quantitative estimation of β-sitosterol and stigmasterol *in vivo* and *in vitro Terminalia chebula* Ritz. *International Research Journal of Pharmacy*, 2(3), 115-116.
- Sharma, R. A., & Singh, R. (2013). A review on *Phyla nodiflora* Linn.: A wild wetland medicinal herb. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research*, 20(1), 57-63.
- Shimamoto, Y., Hayakawa, H., Abe, J., Nakashima, H., & Mikami, T. (1993). Callus induction and plant regeneration of *Beta* germplasm. *Journal of Sugar Beet Research*, 30, 317–319.
- Shukla, S., Patel, R., & Kukkar, R. (2009). Study of phytochemical and diuretic potential of methanol and aqueous extracts of aerial parts of *Phyla nodiflora* Linn. *International Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 1, 85-91.
- Siddiqui, B. S., Ahmad, F., Sattar, F., & Begum, S. (2007). Chemical constituents from the aerial parts of *Lippia nodiflora* Linn. Archives of Pharmacal Research, 30(12), 1507-1510.
- Siddiqui, B. S., Ahmed, F., Ali, S. K., Perwaiz, S., & Begum, S. (2009). Steroidal constituents from the aerial parts of *Lippia nodiflora* Linn. *Natural Product Research: Formerly Natural Product Letters*, 23(5), 436 - 441.
- Slater, A., Scotee, N., & Wand-Fowler, M. R. (2003). Plant Biotechnology: The Genetic Manipulation of Plants (pp. 52). New York, United States of America: Oxford University Press.
- Sudha, A., Sumathi, K., Manikandaselvi, S., Prabhu, N. M., & Srinivasan, P. (2013). Antihepatotoxic activity of crude flavonoid fraction of *Lippia nodiflora* L. on ethanol induced liver injury in rats. *Asian Journal of Animal Sciences*, 7, 1-13.
- Sudha, A., & Srinivasan, P. (2013). Physicochemical and phytochemical profiles of aerial part of *Lippia nodiflora* L. *International Journal of Pharmaceutical Sciences Review and Research*, 4(11), 4263-4271.
- Sudha, A., & Srinivasan, P. (2014). Bioassay-guided isolation and antioxidant evaluation of flavonoid compound from aerial parts of *Lippia nodiflora* L. *BioMed Research International*, 2014. Retrieved on 15 May, 2015 from https://www.hindawi.com/journals/bmri/2014/549836/.
- Sujanapal, P., & Sankaran, K. V. (2016). Common Plants of Maldives. *Bangkok: Food* and Agriculture Organization of the United Nations and Kerala Forest Research Institute.
- Sumathi, M., Radha, G., & Prabhakaran, G. (2012). Antibacterial studies of *Lippia* nodiflora (L.) Michx. Advanced Biotech, 12(6), 38-39.

- Tanaka, M., Kuei, C. W., Nagashima, Y., & Taguchi, T. (1998). Application of antioxidative mailrad reaction products from histidine and glucose to sardine products. *Nippon Suisan Gakkaishi*, 54, 1409–1414.
- Teoh, P. L., Ali, R. A. M., & Cheong, B. E. (2013). Potential anticancer effect of *Phyla nodiflora* extracts in breast cancer cell line, MCF7. *World Journal of Pharmacy and Pharmaceutical Sciences*, 2(6), 6053-6061.
- Terblanche, F. C., & Kornelius, G. (1996). Essential oil constituents of the genus Lippia (Verbenaceae) – A literature review. Journal of Essential Oil Research, 8, 471-485.
- Tetu, T., Sangwan, R. S., & Sangwan-Norreel, B. S. (1987). Hormonal control of organogenesis and somatic embryogenesis in *Beta vulgaris* L. callus. *Journal of Experimental Botany*, 38, 506–517.
- Thamaraiselvi, Ezhilarasu, & Gajendiran, G. K. (2013). Analysis the antibacterial and antioxidant activity of selected medicinal plants- (*Lippia nodiflora* L. and *Vitex negundo* L.). *Golden Research Thoughts*, 3(3), 1-7.
- Tomas- Barnaben, F. A., Harborne, J. B., & Self, R. (1987). Twelve 6-oxygenated flavones sulphates from *Lippia nodiflora* and *Lippia canescens*. *Phytochemistry*, 26(8), 2281-2284.
- Ullah, Z., Rehman, A., Ullah, N., Khan, S. A., Khan, S. U., & Ahmad, I. (2013). Antibacterial study of *Phyla nodiflora* Linn. *Journal of Chemical and Pharmaceutical Research*, 5(3), 86-90.
- Umberto Quattrocchi, F. L. S. (2012). CRC World Dictionary of Medicinal and Poisonous Plants: Common Names, Scientific Names, Eponyms, Synonyms, and Etymology (pp. 2895). Boca, Raton, Florida: CRC Press.
- Vanajothi, R., Sudha, A., Manikandanb, R., Rameshthangamc, P., & Srinivasan P. (2012). Luffa acutangula and Lippia nodiflora leaf extract induces growth inhibitory effect through induction of apoptosis on human lung cancer cell line. Biomedicine & Preventive Nutrition, 2, 287–293.
- World Health Organization. (2015). Cancer. Retrieved on 17 May, 2015 from http://www.who.int/mediacentre/factsheets/fs297/en/.
- Wilson, C. O, Gisvold, O., & Doerge, R. F. (1966). Organic Medicinal and Pharmaceutical Chemistry (5th ed., pp. 237-262). Philadelphia: Lippincott Williams and Wilkins.
- Wink, M. (Ed.). (1999). Functions of Plant Secondary Metabolites and Their Exploitation in Biotechnology (Vol. 3). Taylor & Francis.
- Woyengo, T. A., Ramprasath, V.R., & Jones, P. J. H. (2009). Anticancer effects of phytosterols. *European Journal of Clinical Nutrition*, 63, 813-820.
- Yen, F. L., Moo, C. W., Chan, J. L., Horng, H. K., & Chiang, W. L. (2012). Melanogenesis inhibitor(s) from *Phyla nodiflora* extract. *Hindawi Publishing Corporation, Evidence-Based Complementary and Alternative Medicine*, 2012. Retrieved on 15 May, 2015 from https://www.hindawi.com/journals/ecam/2012/867494/.
- Zare, Z., Majd, A., Sattari, T. N., & Iranbakhsh, A. M. (2012). Antimicrobial activity of leaf and flower extracts of *Lippia nodiflora* L. (Verbenaceae). *Journal of Plant Protection Research*, 52(4), 401-403.

124